United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs

Report on the Project LINK Meeting

31 October - 2 November 2005 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) Geneva, Switzerland

> Prepared by: Global Economic Monitoring Unit Development Policy and Analysis Division

CONTENTS

| 1.Introduction | 1 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------|
| 2. World economic outlook | 1 |
| 2.1 Global economic outlook | 1 |
| 2.2 Outlook regarding commodity prices | 5 |
| 2.3 Regional economic outlook | <u>6</u> |
| United States | 6 |
| Japan | 7 |
| Western Europe | 7 |
| EU-8 and Southeastern Europe | |
| CIS region | 11 |
| Africa | |
| East Asia | 14 |
| South Asia | 15 |
| Western Asia | 16 |
| Latin America and the Caribbean | 17 |
| 3. Economic policy issues | |
| 3.1 Unwinding global economic imbalances | |
| 3.2 Foreign direct investments in Africa | 20 |
| 3.3 Quality of life: Comparing India and China | |
| 3.4 Official reserves and currency management in Asia | 22 |
| 3.5 Economic aspects of a global pandemic | 22 |
| 3.6 Raúl Prebisch memorial lecture: South and East Asia. Leading the world economy | 23 |
| 4. Annexes | |

1. Introduction

The autumn 2005 meeting of Project LINK was held in Geneva, Switzerland from October 31 to November 2, 2005, jointly hosted by Department of Economic and Social Development (DESA) and the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD). More than 100 participants from over 40 countries and several international institutions attended the meeting. The agenda of the meeting comprised two broad sections: economic outlook and economic policy issues. This report summarizes presentations and discussions during the meeting.

The LINK Global Economic Outlook prepared by the Economic Monitoring and Assessment Unit for the meeting, the LINK Country Reports prepared by country participants, and most of the documents presented at the meeting are available on the United Nations website (<u>http://www.un.org/esa/policy/index.html</u>) and the Project LINK Research Centre website at the Institute for Policy Analysis at the University of Toronto (<u>http://www.chass.utoronto.ca/link/</u>).

On the morning of October 31, Mr. Heiner Flassbeck welcomed the conference participants on behalf of UNCTAD. He pointed out that world economic growth currently lies in a comfortable range and is characterized by several features such as higher commodity prices, offering benefits to commodity-exporting countries but challenges to economies that depend on commodity imports. He concluded by mentioning that the conference provided a framework for discussing the implications of this and other issues for the world economy. Prof. Peter Pauly, Director of the Project LINK Research Centre at the University of Toronto, also welcomed the conference participants and presented a brief overview of the programme.

2. World economic outlook

2.1 Global economic outlook

Mr. Rob Vos (United Nations) started his presentation of the LINK Global Economic Outlook of the United Nations by stating that a slight slowdown was expected for the world economy in 2005 and 2006, with this slowdown being a general phenomenon across different country groups. Some qualifications are in place, however, as the economy of the United States for example still seems to be in a more robust state than that of Japan and the EU. Moreover, commodity-exporting economies in transition and developing countries have benefited from higher commodity prices, providing additional support for economic growth. By contrast, Latin America is expected to show the clearest signs of an economic slowdown over the forecast horizon. Trade volume is expected to increase by 7 percent in 2006. representing a slowdown from 11 percent in 2004 but still a better performance than in previous years. Oil prices are forecast to remain at their higher levels in 2005 and 2006, having reached approximately the level of the 1970s in real terms, but remaining below their levels from the 1980s. Compared to mainly supply-driven shocks in the past, the current shock has so far mainly been demand-driven and, hence, relatively less damaging to economic growth. Non-oil commodity prices have also been on an upward trend, creating a favourable environment for many developing countries. The benefits in this respect are, however, unevenly distributed, with middle-income primary goods exporters benefiting to a larger extent than those in the low-income category. Financial markets are a further positive factor in the global economic growth picture, with low interest rates and interest rate spreads offering favourable conditions in particular for the financial positions of developing countries. Rob Vos then highlighted the global imbalances and the increase in oil prices as well as house prices as three major issues that currently play an especially significant role regarding the outlook for global growth. On the global imbalances, he pointed out that investment anemia, rather than a saving glut must be regarded as the cause. Regarding investment, the question is as to whether this has fallen despite relatively high profits. In a possible adjustment scenario, exchange rate movements alone will not be sufficient. Instead, there is need for a global, gradual adjustment process in both surplus and deficit countries over a longer time horizon, requiring more intensive macroeconomic policy coordination at the international level than is currently the case.

Table 1. Gross domestic product and world trade(Annual percentage change)

| | November 2005 forecast ^a | | 5 forecast ^a | May 2005 forecasts | |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|------|-------------------------|--------------------|------|
| | 2004 ^b | 2005 | 2006 | 2005 | 2006 |
| Gross world product | 3.9 | 3.0 | 3.0 | 2.9 | 3.0 |
| PPP weighted | 4.6 | 3.7 | 3.6 | 3.6 | 3.5 |
| Major developed economies | | | | | |
| Canada | 2.9 | 2.7 | 2.6 | 1.6 | 2.8 |
| Japan | 2.6 | 2.1 | 1.9 | 0.7 | 1.5 |
| United States | 4.2 | 3.1 | 3.1 | 3.1 | 3.1 |
| European Union (EU25) | 2.4 | 1.6 | 2.2 | 2.0 | 2.4 |
| France | 2.3 | 1.5 | 2.1 | 2.0 | 2.2 |
| Germany | 1.6 | 0.8 | 1.2 | 1.0 | 1.8 |
| Italy | 1.0 | -0.2 | 0.9 | 1.1 | 1.5 |
| United Kingdom | 3.1 | 1.7 | 2.3 | 2.7 | 2.5 |
| Memo item: Euro Zone | 2.0 | 1.2 | 1.9 | 1.6 | 2.1 |
| Russia | 7.2 | 5.8 | 5.5 | 6.0 | 5.2 |
| Developing countries and regions | | | | | |
| Latin America and the Caribbean | 6.1 | 4.7 | 4.1 | 4.5 | 4.2 |
| Argentina | 9.0 | 7.5 | 4.0 | 6.5 | 4.0 |
| Brazil | 5.2 | 3.5 | 4.0 | 3.8 | 4.1 |
| Mexico | 4.4 | 3.0 | 3.5 | 3.5 | 4.5 |
| Africa | 4.9 | 5.1 | 5.4 | 5.2 | 5.2 |
| North Africa | 4.8 | 5.1 | 5.7 | 5.1 | 5.0 |
| Sub-Saharan Africa ^c | 5.5 | 5.6 | 5.3 | 5.4 | 5.8 |
| Nigeria | 6.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 5.2 |
| South Africa | 3.7 | 4.5 | 4.4 | 4.0 | 3.8 |
| South and East Asia | 6.7 | 6.1 | 6.0 | 6.2 | 6.1 |
| India | 7.0 | 6.8 | 6.8 | 7.0 | 7.1 |
| Indonesia | 5.1 | 5.4 | 5.3 | 5.4 | 5.5 |
| Korea, Republic of | 4.6 | 4.0 | 4.3 | 4.0 | 4.3 |
| Malaysia | 7.1 | 5.5 | 5.6 | 6.3 | 6.4 |
| Philippines | 6.1 | 5.3 | 5.7 | 5.0 | 4.7 |
| Thailand | 6.1 | 4.0 | 4.2 | 5.5 | 5.7 |
| China | 9.5 | 9.4 | 8.8 | 8.8 | 8.3 |
| Western Asia | 6.5 | 5.3 | 5.1 | 5.3 | 5.0 |
| Oil-exporting countries | 6.0 | 5.9 | 5.5 | 5.8 | 5.4 |
| Oil-importing countries | 7.0 | 4.6 | 4.7 | 4.7 | 4.5 |
| World export volume | 10.8 | 7.1 | 7.4 | 7.2 | 8.1 |
| Oil price (Brent, \$/pb) | 38.3 | 55.6 | 59.3 | 46.0 | 37.0 |

^a Pre-Meeting forecasts.

^b Actual or most recent estimates.

^c Excluding Nigeria and South Africa.

Mr. Thomas Helbling of International Monetary Fund (IMF) stated that global economic growth, while remaining solid, had become subject to greater risks. The current slowdown can be attributed to the increase in oil prices since 2003 and a return of economic growth rates to their trend level. The two main risks are the external imbalances and the imbalanced growth performance across regions, with the United States and China leading and the rest of the world following, and the higher level of oil prices and their implications for inflation. While the projections from April's *World Economic Outlook* remain largely unchanged, he pointed out several revisions to the growth forecast. Examples are an upward revision in the case of Japan due to stronger employment growth and more investment in light of solid corporate profits; a downward revision for growth in the United Kingdom because of higher interest rates and a weakening housing market; and downward revisions in Brazil due to tighter monetary policy and in Mexico because of the negative impact from global manufacturing and the United States auto sector. As the drivers of the global economic expansion, he identified still favourable macroeconomic policies; the positive shape of financial markets; improved corporate balance sheets; employment growth; and the positive performance of the economics of the United States and China.

The situation in global financial markets is still characterized by low or negative real short-term interest rates for the US and the euro area, and by unusually low long term interest rates around the world. Although it is unclear whether the latter is a temporary or a permanent phenomenon, financing conditions in emerging market economies might deteriorate if official intervention in some countries is reversed, or if financial inflows from Middle Eastern oil exporters decline. Overall, there is a real risk of global financial market tightening, although core inflation has so far been contained in industrial countries, and largely so in emerging economies.

Concerning the global imbalances, the current situation is neither characterized by a saving glut nor entirely by an investment drought; both global saving and investment rates are on a slight downward trend. They have been relatively stable in industrial countries (except for a decline in saving in the US), although one could talk of a saving glut in the emerging economies. The US current account deficit is expected to continue increasing in the outlook under the assumption of constant real exchange rate. The IMF does not expect a disruptive adjustment of the global current account imbalance, although the larger the imbalance grows, the larger the RER adjustment that will need to occur. However, even if no major disruptive adjustment occurs, there remains the risk of a significant slowdown in global growth, particularly in the US, as part of the adjustment mechanism.

Mr. Hans Timmer (World Bank) reported on global economic trends from the developing countries' perspective, drawing on the analysis in the forthcoming issue of *Global Economic Prospects*. As in 2004, developing countries in 2005 seem to be in "amazingly good shape", as their recent economic performance has been impressive in historical terms. In addition to strong GDP growth, average inflation rates came down by half in recent years, and fiscal policies have improved. There remain, however, some caveats and downside risks, such as higher oil prices, fickle financial markets, and barriers to trade and migration.

The impact of higher oil prices is now starting to harm the economies of many oil-importing countries, and the picture in non-oil commodity prices has recently deteriorated. While the oil price increase in the 2004-2005 period has been much larger than in 2002-2003, it has been compounded by a lower compensation from the prices of non-oil commodities, especially agricultural ones. The terms-of-trade impact therefore has been much larger. In order to analyze the welfare impact, the concept of Gross National Income (GNI) is more appropriate than GDP: in terms of GNI, the picture is less rosy for oil-importing developing countries, but better for developing oil exporters, when compared to assessments in terms of GDP.

Financial markets are currently supportive of developing countries' growth, owing to persisting low interest rate spreads. In historical perspective, however, there have been a series of large, unexpected shocks, reminding us that low spreads are not guaranteed.

Trade can be a strong growth engine for developing countries, as demonstrated by the strong increase in the value of textile exports to developed countries in the first half of 2005 (year-over-year),

since the end of the Agreement of Textiles and Clothing. While acknowledging that the largest increase had been in China, at 40%, and that for some countries textile exports had in fact declined, Hans Timmer argued that there remained large possible gains, as textile exports to the Euro area were still severely restricted.

It is estimated that global gains from migration will be US\$356 billion by 2025. Developing countries stand to attain a larger share of this sum, as the gains from migration fall largely on the poorer people of the countries of origin. In this context, it should also be noted that a large part of the growing remittances volume stems from developing-to-developing country flows.

Mr. Pete Richardson from Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) presented an outlook for the global economy, focusing on the OECD countries. The speaker started from a summary of the *Economic Outlook* released by the OECD in June 2005 and then moved to the evaluation of more recent developments. As a background to the outlook released in June, the speaker referred to continuing oil and commodity price increases, mixed confidence in Europe, and some weakening in the world trade in the first two quarters of 2005. Macroeconomic policies in the US, Japan and the euro area are assumed to remain supportive.

The baseline scenario of the OECD assumes a recovery of the overall GDP growth in the OECD area to 2.5 per cent in 2005 and 2.75 per cent in 2006, although combined with a lack of momentum and divergence in Europe, while observing stronger activity in Japan. Strong growth is expected in non-OECD countries, notably in China in 2006. A soft landing is expected in the US. Inflation in general is expected to stay low, around 2 per cent in the US and 1.5 per cent in the euro area. Further widening of fiscal deficits will take place in the US and Japan, and current account imbalances will be rising, with the US current account deficit exceeding 6.5 per cent of GDP, according to the OECD.

In order to incorporate the most recent information, a number of changes in the underlying assumptions, notably in oil price and exchange rates, as well as in monetary assumptions and non-OECD developments were introduced to econometric simulation, in order to assess their impact on the GDP level and inflation for the US, Japan, euro area and the OECD in general. The speaker presented the following main results: Significant changes in oil prices will raise headline (but not core) inflation and reduce GDP levels in 2006. Expected movements in exchange rates will dampen US growth and inflation, but boost output and inflation in the euro area and Japan.

To conclude the presentation, the speaker presented a set of short-term indicator models for the largest OECD economies and a summary of the model projections, which assume some recovery in the eurozone (confirmed by high-frequency indicators). He also explained that global trade growth would decrease during the first half of 2006, but should recover during the third quarter, owing mostly to OECD and Asia. Export orders should increase for EU and Japan, as should the import demand of OPEC countries. However, exports to China are expected to weaken.

Mr. Ray Barrell from National Institute of Economic and Social Research, United Kingdom (NIESR) presented an outlook for the global economy. Starting from the key facts, the speaker stated that world GDP growth in 2004, at 5.1 per cent, was the fastest in almost thirty years. In the US, growth was linked to a recovery in investment, and strengthening took place also in the euro area and Japan. Some moderation followed, however, in 2005 and the world GDP growth rate will remain the same in 2006. Meanwhile, world trade growth slowed drastically in the first quarter of 2005 (especially import growth in the euro area), but is expected to return to its historical average rate. In the longer run, world trade growth is expected to stabilize in line with the world GDP growth rate at about 4.5 per cent.

The speaker mentioned basic forecast assumptions, such as projected oil price, key exchange rates and interest rates, and noted that the long-term interest rates had fallen both in nominal and in real terms in the major economies, especially in Europe. Focusing on this issue, he explained that long-run rates reflect expected growth rate, and in the European case the expectations take into account ageing society and poor trade and technology-related performance in the euro-area, without significant spillovers from US technological progress. Export market shares meanwhile declined for the euro area by 10 per cent since the euro strengthened, and also for the US, while China's share increased by over 80 per cent in the last five years. Most of these effects are due to price competitiveness, but the shifts also depend on the product composition of exports. Turning to the issue of global imbalances, Ray Barrell suggested that the increasing deficit of the US is explained by trade factors, real returns, but most of all by excess domestic demand. According to the econometric simulation conducted on NIESR's global model (NIGEM), the impact of a 10 per cent revaluation in China will be short and is not a solution to the US current account problem, since the real exchange rate depends on structural parameters and not on the nominal rate. On the other hand, changing the structure of demand in China will reduce trade surplus but have little impact on the US.

Turning to the impact of higher oil prices, the speaker mentioned that differences among countries are due to different oil intensity of production and export exposure to the oil producers. On a global level, the impact of oil price is partially offset by stronger demand from oil producers, and especially the euro area benefits from the import demand in OPEC and Russia. In the long-run, however, higher oil prices worsen the current account for the OECD and change the saving-investment balance, and as a result real interest rates rise and reduce equilibrium output, according to the model simulation.

In the discussion, the question was raised why there are low spillovers in Europe from technological progress in the US, in spite of the presence of US-American companies in Europe. In his reply, Ray Barrell argued that multinational companies do not really transfer technology to the EU, but rather break through the trade barriers in order to increase their market share and sales in Europe. In fact, not much FDI went to the EU, and there is more evidence of technology transfer to developing countries, and especially China (based on UK data).

2.2 Outlook regarding commodity prices

Mr. William H. Meyers (University of Missouri) presented the outlook for agricultural markets. His forecasts are based on January 2005 market conditions and policies as well as Global Insight projections. Those projections assume, among other things, a continued appreciation of OECD currencies vis-à-vis the Dollar and a slower, albeit still strong, global GDP growth.

He projected corn prices to further decline in 2005/2006 because of higher-than-expected production and larger stocks. However, he expected prices to pick up in coming years, supported mainly by increasing feed use in Asian and Latin American countries. He also forecasted wheat and rice prices to follow the same patterns as corn prices in 2005/2006 and beyond. He projected the soybean price decline in 2004/2005 to be less dramatic than previously expected and even forecasted a slight rebound in 2005/2006 because of strong demand from China. He expected cotton prices to recover from the steep decline recorded in 2004. Continued increase in China's demand after the ending of textile quotas would be the driving force behind this recovery. Nonetheless, even though cotton prices are expected to rise steadily in coming years, their levels would still be below the 2003 levels.

Continuing the discussion on commodities markets, William H. Meyers indicated that Brazil and China were becoming the major players in world markets for many commodities: the first as a key exporter and the second as a growing import market. He illustrated his point by highlighting recent developments in soybean and cotton markets, where Brazilian exports had surged in line with expanding Chinese imports.

He then turned to World Trade Organisation (WTO) negotiations and disputes and their potential impact on agricultural markets. He indicated that the current Doha round is at a critical stage and could significantly impact agricultural markets. He added that WTO rulings in cotton and sugar and perhaps other commodities might bring further policy changes, as in Step 2 US Cotton subsidies.

William H. Meyers concluded his presentation by underlining major caveats associated with the outlook. Those relate to the Doha Agenda and its outcome; WTO rulings in cotton (US), sugar (EU) and others; unilateral policy adjustments in response to WTO rulings; impacts of large countries such as Brazil and China regarding policy and technology changes; and trade impacts of Sanitary and Phytosanitary Standards (SPS) issues associated especially with BSE and Avian Influenza.

In his presentation on the world oil market, Mr. Robert Kaufmann (Boston University) looked into the determinants of the recent steep increase in international oil prices. According to him, the main reason is the fact that we are currently living off infrastructure that was built between the post-World War II and the 1970s. Over the last 35 years, investment incentives were insufficient, as the increase in global demand during 1970-2000 was much slower than in the period 1960-70. In addition, while the previous price shocks increased non-OPEC output, OPEC production has been below the level reached in the late 1970s ever since. The main determinant for oil production is currently the degree of OPEC capacity utilization: While OPEC capacity has not increased over the last 30 years; the degree of capacity utilization has gone from about 60 per cent in 1985, to 95 per cent today. Owing to this lack of spare capacity, OPEC has lost control over prices at the margin.

Another important determinant of international oil prices are OECD stocks: There has been a steady decline in stocks over the past 20 years in terms of days of forward consumption, although with a slight increase in absolute levels. A further bottleneck lies in US refinery capacity -- for many years there has been a lack of incentives to build capacity because US demand has been below its peak of the late 1970s. Meanwhile, outside the US, demand has gradually crept up to meet the available refining capacity, which has only registered a modest increase.

In addition to these tight market conditions, the impact of the 2005 hurricane season in the US has driven up oil prices. The disruption was much larger than in the 2004 season, and affected both crude oil production and refinery throughputs. As of November 2005, production has not returned to normal levels, unlike in the year before. With almost no spare capacity, any loss of supply, even if temporary, directly impacts the market.

Another question that Robert Kaufmann tackled was the question of production peak. While the world is not going to run out of oil, the production pattern over time is expected to roughly adjust to a bell-shaped curve. In this vein, Hubbert's (1956) prediction of a production peak for the US was correct in predicting the timing of the peak, although he underestimated somewhat the actual level of production at the peak¹.

When applying Hubbert's bell curve for estimates of the global peak, it turns out that the timing of the peak of the bell-shaped curve is relatively insensitive to the volume of recoverable production. Therefore, uncertainty about the total volume of oil left only changes the estimate of the timing of the peak in a maximum of ten years. This implies that, once the peak is reached, even dramatic increases in oil prices have no strong effect. Thus, once we are beyond the peak, it is estimated that the world would need the equivalent of a "new Saudi Arabia" every 5-10 years just to keep up. Current trends are, however, that oil majors are using cash to buy own stock, rather than to expand capacity. This makes economic sense, as adding capacity could ultimately hurt OPEC member states: if the decline in prices were to overcompensate the increase in production, there would be a loss of revenue.

According to Robert Kaufmann, global production will probably peak in about 20 years. Therefore, timely investments starting now will be critical for what things look like once the peak has been reached.

2.3 Regional economic outlook

United States

Prof. Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania) presented the economic outlook for the *United States*. He pointed out that the United States, China and India are currently often cited as the three locomotives of the world economy. However, the United States economy is faced with serious problems that are obscured by positive headline numbers so that it cannot be regarded as a locomotive at the moment.

¹ M. King Hubbert: *Nuclear Energy and the Fossil Fuels*. Drilling and Production Practice (Spring 1956) pp.5-75. American Petroleum Institute.

With potential economic growth of 4.0 per cent, the growth figure of 3.8 per cent for the third quarter of this year appears to indicate a solid performance of the economy, but the numbers will be subject to two revisions and, hence, have to be treated with caution. Moreover, the apparently solid performance of the United States economy has also to be seen in the context of erratic government spending, a recent fall in industrial production, and a high level of consumption in fixed capital. The latter is due to depreciation, compounded by hurricane damages. Considering the methodology of measuring economic activity, he pointed out that the Net National Product (NNP) would be a more suitable benchmark than GDP and that the former has recently shown a negative growth rate. He then presented a series of variables that painted the picture of an economy that is growing at a solid, but not necessarily satisfying pace, and that is faced with numerous problems. More specifically, the housing market seems to be slowing down, but is unlikely to experience a decline in prices similar to that in the IT sector several years ago. On foreign trade, he noted that the trade deficit appears to have bottomed out in 2005, although the indications for this are still only preliminary and have to be confirmed by stronger data over the next 6 to 12 months. Regarding the labour market, he noted that employment did not show a vigorous increase and seemed to have leveled off; unemployment has fallen in most months since 2003; and increases in hourly earnings exceed the target inflation rate, but have not given rise to inflationary pressure so far. On the fiscal policy side, the fiscal deficit fell in 2005 compared to the previous year, but this was owed mostly to the one-off effect of special tax legislation so that without any policy changes, the deficit is likely to increase in 2006.

Japan

Mr. Kanemi Ban (Osaka University) gave a presentation on the economic outlook for *Japan*. According to the Tankan survey, confidence has increased especially in manufacturing in late 2004 and again in late 2005 when exports increased after having fallen in 2004. The production index has fallen since 2005 especially in IT-related sectors, while the inventory ratio has stopped worsening. Both consumer price inflation and producer price inflation have stopped declining due to increased energy prices since February 2005.

In the manufacturing industry, the output prices of coal, petroleum, iron and steel have increased. In contrast, growth in the transportation and electric machinery sectors has remained flat due to higher oil prices. The unemployment rate has decreased since early 2004, reaching 4.2 per cent in September 2005.

The Bank of Japan may soon end its of loose monetary policy as liquidity increases, its current account increases and the previous decline in bank loans moderates. Deflation is expected to end in April 2006, but the zero-interest rate policy may continue until the end of 2006. Government bond yields have increased from 1.35 to 1.55 per cent from September to October.

GDP growth in 2005 is 2.1 per cent down from 2.6 per cent in 2004, as net exports declined, but private demand increased. The latter will, however, decline in 2006 and 2007, especially private consumption as taxes will increase and deflation is ending.

In sum, Japan is recovering slowly. Firms suffer from the oil price hike but benefit from favorable market conditions. This is an appropriate time for fiscal consolidation through increased tax revenues. Consumption will slow down in 2006 although taxes will increase in 2007.

Western Europe

Mr. Ray Barrell (NIESR) discussed the regional outlook for *Western Europe*. Growth in the euro area was expected to be 1.3 per cent in 2005 down from the 1.8 per cent in 2004, due to the oil shock and a delay in a pickup in spending. Growth was expected to rebound to 1.9 per cent in 2006 as net exports improved and spending accelerated. The range of growth performances was large in the region - from 0 per cent in Italy to 3 per cent in Spain, but this dispersion was expected to narrow. Growth has been slow for awhile with the question of when strong growth would return.

Looking at the sources of growth, external demand remained supportive. In the fourth quarter there was a rise in demand of 9 per cent from the EU's export markets, particularly from those recycling oil export revenues, Russia, OPEC and Norway, but also from China. Of the major economies, however, only Germany had a positive contribution to growth from net exports. Generally it was domestic demand that was the main driver, but this was held back in many cases by the fiscal situations.

Inflation has risen to 2 per cent, but this figure is distorted by a change in methodology in the Netherlands, which cuts 0.2 per cent off the euro area rate, so the real figure should be around 2.3 per cent. Inflation was rising during a period of slow growth. Germany and France have below average inflation, but they are wealthier than average so this is consistent with the Balassa-Samuelson effect. With an European Central Bank target of 1.8 per cent, inflation in Germany at 1.6 per cent is relatively high.

The 3 per cent deficit limit for fiscal policy remains in force but the penalty mechanism has been abolished. Tightening is needed in some countries. In the past, Germany cut taxes to shrink the state, without much success. In France, which like Germany is at the top of the cycle, government spending actually increased. For 2006, it is expected that there will be a tightening of a quarter per cent of GDP in countries that exceed the 3 per cent limit. Many accounting tricks were used in the past but this has by now become more difficult.

Overall, the outlook is one of slow growth, increasing inflation, and fiscal tightening. Concerning monetary policy, interest rates are expected to increase sooner rather than later. This, combined with the continuing fiscal tightening, generates a sluggish outlook.

A simulation was performed assessing the impact of shocks which occurred since the spring forecast: the euro depreciated, long term interest rates fell, and the oil price increased. This should have generated an increase in euro area GDP, but the outcome was the reverse. The main reason for this downward revision to growth was slower trade. Looking at the evolution of export market shares, the euro area has lost 10 per cent of its market share since 2000; while Germany's share has remained largely constant, and might even have increased, Spain lost a little, France lost 10 per cent, Italy lost more than 20 per cent. Competitiveness in Italy and Spain has deteriorated through wage and price inflation as well as the euro. In Germany there has been no change, because the country specializes in hi-tech investment goods. Italy's sharp decline in market share is due to its unfavourable product mix.

The importance of trade shares is owing to their effect on trend growth rates, which have dropped for most countries in the EU. A further contributing factor to the decline in trend growth is the higher international oil price. Structural problems in the German labour markets contribute to an even stronger reduction in that country. As trend growth in the EU is slowing, there is a risk that governments could revert to policy measures to boost demand. This could increase inflationary pressures, especially against the backdrop of the current low interest rates; hence, the case for a rise in interest rates is getting stronger.

In the UK, growth was surprisingly weak. The oil price shock has reduced the supply capacity of the economy, so that despite the recent weakness it would be risky to lower interest rates. Inflation is rising and above midpoint of the target range.

Mr. Ray Barrell examined the effect of shifting inflation expectations. These should be anchored on the inflation target depending on the credibility of the central bank, but there is a possibility that they could drift. Firstly, looking at an endogenous shock to expectations - inflationary expectations were increased by 1 per cent - inflation rose by 0.5 per cent, the central bank raises rates by 0.6 per cent, and growth slows. Secondly, looking at the effects of a \$10 increase in oil prices, the effect on output and inflation was much stronger if expectations drifted - from growth dropping by 0.2 per cent to growth slowing by 0.4 per cent and a higher inflation outcome. So currently it would be risky for fiscal or monetary policy to stimulate activity because of the possibility that expectations might drift.

Country Participant comments:

Mr. Roland Doehrn (RWI) commented on Germany, noting that at that time the makeup of the new government was unclear. Labour market reforms had occurred but they were not well designed. The incentive to work had not increased and it was more a passive labour market policy. There had been no real change in structure such as changing the dismissal law. The outlook, given the recent short term indicators, was not bad. The third quarter had been good, so that growth for the year as a whole was as good as could be expected. The pick up in inflation was stronger than expected due to the oil price, and there was a danger that inflation expectations might rise.

Mr. Carlo D'Adda (University of Bologna and Prometeia), agreed that the Italian product mix was unfavourable, but that the change to higher quality products was taking time. Recent data showed some small improvement.

Mr. Adolfo Castilla (Adolfo Castilla y Asociados, S.L.) made some points on Spain. There was no significant fiscal impulse and Government finances were weak, representing a drag on the economy.

Mr. Norbert Walter (Deutsche Bank) presented a paper in which he asked the question *Recovery in Europe: Will it Eventually Materialize*? His answer was no, despite the fact that it was very difficult for EU not to have a recovery. He noted that the world economy had moved out of the soft patch in the cycle, but there were questions on oil and other commodity prices. Monetary and fiscal policies were, however, less uncertain. He stated that the world economy would perform strongly for the firsts three quarters of 2006, but then there could be trouble. The price of oil was high but this would not last: investment was increasing; conservation was increasing; other energy sources were now more competitive and hence were picking up. In his view, therefore, the peak of oil prices was over. In addition there were compensating factors. European exports to oil producers had picked up a lot and alternative energy use was up with the oil intensity of growth cut in half since the 1970s.

Looking first at the dynamics of the world economy, the US and recently especially China were leading the way; their incremental contribution to growth was very large. On policy, in the US the Fed has a new chairman and interest rates would continue to rise perhaps more than anticipated by the market, with a question as to what this would mean for the rest of the world. In Japan the zero interest rate policy would continue through 2006 but then rates would rise. This meant that in 2006 the interest rate differential vis-à-vis Japan would increase, pushing the US dollar further up and the current account balance further down. To get the current account deficit down to three per cent of GDP by 2010 would require a tremendous exchange rate change or fiscal change, and these were not in current policy. On these grounds, Norbert Walter speculated that the US dollar could reach 150 to the euro and 80 yen to the dollar in 2007-08.

A major problem in the European Union was that there was too much savings and too little investment. Firms were saving rather than investing, the government could not expand (with demographics arguing against fiscal expansion), and with pessimistic consumer sentiment, consumption was slow. Business sentiment was satisfactory, mostly because exports were strong. But exports were the only category of final demand that was strong, owing to strong world demand and the decline in the euro since the beginning of 2005. Exports were expected to grow by 6-8 per cent and remain strong for the next two to three quarters.

Consumption was a major problem. Real wage growth was very poor, employment had increased moderately but in very low wage and in part-time jobs, so that it would take a very long time for income to increase. Wealth effects were divergent across the European Union. House prices supported consumption in some countries such as the UK, Spain and Netherlands but importantly not so in Germany, where there was zero change. Nevertheless, the house price bonanza was over; the UK was already slowing; in the Netherlands it was over; in Spain it would last a bit longer. This meant that the differences in wealth effects would disappear.

Capacity utilization was very low and there had been very little change over the last few years, one reason behind the poor investment performance. However, despite the low capacity utilization, there should still be some investment due to depreciation.

Headline inflation was 2 per cent, while core inflation stood at 1.4 per cent. So there was no reason for the ECB to raise rates. Rates were currently very close to those implied by a Taylor rule (2.5 per cent), but there was lots of talk of tightening. Norbert Walter strongly argued against this, saying that this would raise the risk of deflation, a danger heightened by the fiscal policy constraint. Further tightening would risk an appreciation of the euro, pushing down exports, the only source of growth.

The forecast for growth in the European Union was 1.5 per cent for the medium term, with investment weak and continuing strength in exports, which would be fine if there was no ambition, but he believed that potential growth could be higher. This would require working harder and longer.

On the German situation, he noted that there was a question of whether the election and the resulting grand coalition would be an opportunity, but he argued that it would result in a continuation of the status quo. The key issue was the fiscal deficit and it required that spending be reduced but instead it was most likely that taxes would increase. In addition, tax reform was necessary; the income tax needed to be lowered and the system made simpler. He argued that health spending needed to be privatized. Education was another area that needed to be made more competitive. Demographics was a major problem, there was no population growth, so that the ratio of young people to the total population was declining. He questioned how much immigration was possible, especially given the difficulties of non-similar cultural backgrounds.

In the discussion, Mr. Wladislav Welfe (University of Lodz) asked whether unemployment in Europe was likely to be reduced over the medium-term. In a similar context, Ray Barrel (NIESR) commented that while it was true that US productivity was higher than European, the reverse was true when measured with respect to person hours. In addition, Hans Timmer (World Bank) asked about the effect of East Germany, and whether it was a problem or a solution (through new investment and infrastructure). He also wondered about possible benefits of immigration, as it could help to keep the population young.

In response, Mr. Norbert Walter answered that there were big differences in unemployment trends across Europe. The UK was helped by strong output growth, in Denmark growth was not so strong but unemployment had declined, and in Germany unemployment was beginning to fall. In 5 years, the baby boom generation would start to retire so that unemployment would fall. Concerning productivity differentials, he argued that the European high productivity per hour worked was a function of the high rate of unemployment. If the economy added more low skilled employment, productivity per hour would decline. With respect to East Germany, he replied that it was a big part of the problem. At entry the eastern Länder tried to quickly catch up to western wage levels, contributing instead to an increase in unemployment. On immigration, he argued that it could not help maintain the demographic structure, but could slow the aging demographics, and it was mutually beneficial.

EU-8 and Southeastern Europe

Mr. Rumen Dobrinsky from Economic Commission for Europe (ECE) presented a short-term macroeconomic outlook for the *new EU members and Southeastern Europe*. Most of the new EU members, according to the speaker, preserved their dynamism in 2005, but average GDP growth slowed after a peak in 2004, and the pace of growth remained uneven in the region, with the Baltic States remaining the fastest growing economies of the EU-8. Export growth strengthened on the basis of new FDI-led export capacity and shifts in the export structure to more value-added production. Moreover, the countries' export shares in world markets increased. Domestic demand, meanwhile, has moderated. Macroeconomic policies can be viewed as neutral even though monetary policies remained to some extent supportive, since pressure from the European Commission to comply with the EU fiscal rules caused some lowering of the fiscal deficits. Inflationary pressures in the EU-8 remained subdued, since the effect of high energy prices was marginal and there were no policy-induced inflationary pressure. The outlook for the region for 2006 is favourable, taking into account economic sentiment indicators, although there are some risks associated with delayed

recovery in the eurozone, which may dampen export expansion; significantly higher than expected energy prices; and challenges to achieve fiscal consolidation.

In Southeastern Europe, according to Rumen Dobrinsky, economic growth remained vibrant, and the EU accession countries benefited from rising investor and consumer confidence and solid inflows of FDI. Continuing expansion of export-oriented productive capacity and improved financial intermediation as well as robust consumer spending and housing construction were among the factors boosting these economies. Successful post-conflict reconstruction and macroeconomic stabilization in other countries of this sub-region also contributed to better economic performance.

Robust domestic demand, supported by a credit boom, was the major driving factor in Southeastern Europe. Owing to tight fiscal policies it is mostly attributed to the private sector. The downside of such growth pattern is a widening of the current account deficits. Policy response to these deficits is complicated, since interest rates hike can be counterproductive, and so far various types of credit restrictions were implemented in the sub-region. If domestic demand does not cool down, further fiscal restraint may be needed. Major risks for the sub-region therefore include excessive reliance on domestic demand as a source of growth and potential problems with debt sustainability. Possible policy tightening may constrain economic activity.

During the open-floor discussion, the question was raised whether the new EU members are considering adopting direct inflation targeting policy, as in the EU. Another participant wanted to know whether there was any specific reason why the Baltic States were the fastest growing region in the new EU and whether this was a macroeconomic policy related issue.

In reply, Rumen Dobrinsky clarified that direct inflation targeting was already in place in a number of the new EU members. The strong growth in the Baltic States was owing to their favourable geographic location, significant FDI inflows from their neighbours, and to consistent policies, for example, maintaining fiscal balance.

CIS region

Mr. Rumen Dobrinsky went on to present the economic outlook of the *CIS region*. Despite some slowdown after two years of exceptionally strong growth, the CIS remains the fastest growing sub-region with an average GDP growth of 6.3 per cent in 2005. This outcome reflects a moderation of growth in the largest economies, namely the Russian Federation and Ukraine. The external conditions have been both positive and negative. While on the positive side oil and gas reached new heights, softening steel prices and declining cotton prices have had a negative effect on growth of the countries which export those commodities. The ongoing pro-cyclical loosening in fiscal policy and the expansionary monetary policy in commodity exporters have also been supportive of growth in the CIS.

Mr. Rumen Dobrinsky discussed the main sources of growth in the CIS, emphasizing the vulnerability of some countries in this region related to heavy reliance on commodity exports. Ongoing surge in domestic demand is another growth factor in many countries, which is leaking to large imports, due to the still low response of domestic supply. On the macroeconomic policy side, monetary policy in the commodity exporters of this region remains under strain due to the Dutch disease as large foreign exchange inflows fuel rapid monetary expansion and the central banks in those countries refrain from massive sterilization to prevent excessive real exchange rate appreciation. There are pressures for fiscal loosening as well, owing to the difficulties to assess the actual fiscal stance in the absence of data on structural balances in some countries. The Stabilization Funds in Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and the Russian Federation have absorbed part of the oil-export revenues, but policy pressure to use it for current spending remains.

Finally, the speaker discussed the sustainability of the current growth pattern in the CIS, emphasizing the risks and the challenges ahead. He noted that the current sources of high growth rates may soon dry out as long as there are limits to growth of commodity exports. The insufficient level of investment in the non-commodity sectors does not allow for broadening the growth base, which still

remains narrow and vulnerable to external shocks. Long-term growth prospects in the region hinge on the success in diversifying economies and on economic reforms.

On the question regarding inflation targeting that came up in the discussion, Rumen Dobrinsky noted that some countries in the CIS region are also considering this option though they are facing structural problems.

Mr. Andrei Roudoi, (Global Insight) gave a presentation on the *Sustainability of Economic Growth in Russia*, focusing on the potential of the Russian economy to sustain growth at the pace of 6.0 - 7.0 per cent per year. He analysed economic growth in the Russian Federation for the period 1999-2004. Growth for that period was faster than in many developing countries, such as Brazil, Mexico and India, but slower than that in China.

Economic performance in 2004 was argued to be the best in the post-war history of the Russian Federation. In 2005, however, the economy experienced a slowdown despite the higher prices for oil and gas, which according to Andrei Roudoi is generally considered the main determinant of growth. He provided estimations about the relationship between oil prices and GDP growth, arguing for a high correlation till the middle of 2004. Meanwhile, on-going real appreciation of the rouble has dampened the positive effect of higher oil prices and prevented faster growth. He also argued that the Russian authorities seem to be reluctant to accelerate growth of money supply as it is already high.

Another growth factor – rising capacity utilization, which made a strong contribution to growth in the period after the Russian crises in August 1998 - seems to have exhausted its potential as well. In addition, despite the relative high rates of growth of fixed investment, there is still insufficient capital due to the low base. Demographic changes are also negatively affecting growth, which - coupled with problems in labour mobility - may have long-term consequences on growth sustainability.

Mr. Andrei Roudoi argued that the effects of all those factors, however, might be offset by domestic developments in the short run. In particular, the deterioration of investors' confidence seems to be over and there is an ongoing improvement in construction; and the stock price index is growing faster than in 2004. There are plans to increase exports of commodities other than oil and the strong currency might have had a less substantial impact on growth than expected (estimates of the author do not provide clear evidence on the negative effect of the rouble appreciation on growth, while its immediate effect is positively correlated with imports). Fiscal policy has been generally tight in recent years but there are signs of relaxation, which according to Andrei Roudoi could contribute to strong economic growth in 2006. In conclusion, he pointed out that the economy of the Russian Federation is likely to grow at a pace of around 5-6 per cent for the next 2 or 3 years.

Among the issues raised during the discussion by conference participants were the problems of the Dutch disease as an interpretation to what has happened in the Russian Federation in 2005. Andrei Roudoi responded that though real appreciation of the rouble has affected some sectors, there are still sectors successfully competing in international markets. Rumen Dobrinsky disagreed with some points in the presentation, especially on the fiscal policy stance. He noted that we still did not know whether fiscal policy was relaxed in 2005. There are two channels of fiscal spending in the Russian economy – through government spending and through the Stabilization Fund – and we have to look at the developments there. He argued that determining fiscal relaxation/tightening depends much on the point of neutrality. Another question was raised about the monetary policy in the Russian Federation, which according to Andrei Roudoi had two targets – to prevent further appreciation of the rouble and to keep inflation at a rate which is preliminary set by the Government.

Africa

Mr. Janvier Nkurunziza from Economic Commission for Africa (ECA) presented the regional outlook for *Africa* and analysed one of the main challenges the continent is facing, namely high unemployment rates in most African countries and the persistent link between high unemployment and poverty.

GDP was expected to expand further in 2005 and 2006, reflecting to a large extent stronger performance in oil producing countries. On the downside, political instability in Côte-d'Ivoire and Zimbabwe and macroeconomic problems in Seychelles made these countries the worst performing economies in the region.

Higher commodities prices, particularly oil prices, and better macroeconomic environment (low inflation, current account and fiscal surpluses, increasing FDI and lower debt stocks) were the main factors behind the overall improved outlook. Despite the inflationary push of higher oil prices, average consumer price inflation in Africa remained stable, increasing from 7.8 per cent in 2004 to an expected 8.3 per cent in 2005. The apparent limited effect of stronger oil prices was due to the low weight of oil in the consumer basket of most countries.

Fiscal and external balances for the region were expected to improve in 2005 thanks mainly to increased hydrocarbon revenues and rising FDI inflows to the continent. The debt situation is also expected to improve, with Africa's external debt declining from US\$293 billion in 2004 to US\$285.8 billion in 2005. More favourably, the G8 proposal to write off the multilateral debt of many African countries at the Gleneagles Summit in June 2005 would lessen their debt burden in years to come.

The medium-term outlook for Africa is positive. GDP for the continent will accelerate to 5.3 per cent in 2006, which will be the highest rate recorded in a decade. Various risks of the outlook outlined in the presentation included, on the upside, the prospects of more aid and debt relief, higher commodities prices and export volumes, stronger agricultural production, continued sound macroeconomic policies and stronger world demand. On the downside, the main factors were continued higher oil prices and their detrimental impact on net oil importing countries, deterioration in terms of trade, political risks stemming from lingering conflicts and adverse weather conditions.

On the issue of employment and poverty reduction, it was stated that stronger economic growth had failed to reduce poverty significantly in Africa. The poverty rate, estimated at 46 per cent, has not declined over the past two decades and appears to be the highest in the world. The poor relationship between economic growth and poverty reduction was largely attributed to the fact that growth had been driven mainly by capital-intensive rather than labour-intensive sectors. Poverty levels within a large percentage of the working populations in many African countries were high, which suggests that employment generally tends to be concentrated in low-productivity sectors. The second factor that explains the poor link between growth and poverty reduction is that growth, although high in recent years, falls well below the benchmark estimate of 7 per cent estimated by ECA and other organizations required to make a significant dent in poverty levels in Africa. The third explanatory factor is the highly uneven distribution of income (Africa has the second-highest Gini coefficient, after Latin America) which means that the benefits of growth are not spread evenly and equitably.

Concluding his presentation, Janvier Nkurunziza raised five key questions which are central for Africa's future development: (1) Why isn't poverty more responsive to growth? (2) How should Africa reduce its dependency on unpredictable weather and oil prices? (3) How could oil resources be used to diversify African economies? (4) How should second-generation reforms be consolidated? (5) How could higher rates of investment be attracted in the "right sectors"?

Ms. Charlotte du Toit (University of Pretoria) presented a report on economic developments in *South Africa*. Real GDP growth accelerated to 4 per cent in 2005 from 3.8 per cent in 2004. Growth in 2005 was based primarily on strong consumer demand as a result of lower tax and interest rates, greater access to financial services and corresponding growth in credit expansion. The Government announced GDP growth targets of 6 per cent to be achieved by 2010. However, potential growth, based on potential employment, savings and investment trend growth and South Africa's ability to attract FDI realistically put a ceiling on GDP growth of 4 per cent over the forecast period. South Africa's official unemployment rate was 28 per cent, but this number excludes people who have become discouraged and stopped looking for work. An expanded definition that includes the discouraged puts the unemployment rate at 41 per cent, presenting a severe drag on growth prospects. These high unemployment rates are attributed to structural rigidities in labour markets traced to inflexible labour laws. The high unemployment rates are further complicated by a

large influx of illegal and unskilled workers from neighbouring countries and significant "brain drain" to the rest of the world. South Africa is expected to record a deficit on its current account, but portfolio and FDI inflows bolster currency reserves which – along with increasing gold reserves - currently provide 15 months of import cover.

Ms. Suzana Maria de Fatima Camacho Monteiro (Banco Nacional de Angola) presented an updated report on developments in the *Angolan* economy and post-conflict rehabilitation of various sectors and activities.

Mr. Richard Eyiah (Claydord Consult) mentioned that *Ghana* was achieving some measure of success in reducing inflation despite high international oil prices. Ghana also made significant progress in fiscal consolidation. With promised debt cancellation from the G-8 countries, Ghana would no longer depend on the IMF for budget support. However, the combined effects of declining prices of the country's main commodity exports (cocoa, timber and gold) and high oil prices are expected to lead to current account deficits over the forecast period 2005-2009.

In the question and answer session that followed the presentations it was acknowledged, in reply to questions from Mr. Désiré Vencatachellum (African Development Bank) that HIV/AIDS continues to have a negative impact on the economies of some African countries, as skilled personnel are lost at a faster rate than is possible to replace them. Regarding loss of trade preferences in sugar, textiles and other preferential arrangements, it was also acknowledged that this development will cause loss of market shares in global markets to the detriment of African economies.

On FDI flows, Mr. Kodjo Evlo (Université de Lomé) commented that African countries should also focus on minimizing corruption, improving governance and reducing market distortions, in addition to policy targeting as recommended in the presentation, to increase FDI flows to Africa. It was also suggested that African countries should address the social and distributional impact of reform policies since this was largely missing from earlier structural adjustment programmes.

Mr. Kenneth G. Ruffing (OECD) indicated that the joint report of the African Development Bank and the OECD, the *African Economic Outlook (AEO) 2005*, generally agreed with the analysis and outlook presented at the meeting. The AEO believes, however, that too much emphasis was being placed on FDI inflows to stimulate Africa's development. Instead, more attention should be focused on privatesector development of small- and medium-scale enterprises which are missing from most African economies. The AEO refers to this phenomenon as the "missing middle" between large informal sector in some countries on one end of the scale of economic activities, and large state- or foreign-owned enterprises on the other end. Development of the missing middle would encourage increased investment, both domestic and foreign.

East Asia

Mr. Hiren Sarkar from Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) presented the regional outlook for Asia. *East Asia* is expected to see an acceleration in economic growth from 4.3 per cent in 2005 to 4.9 per cent in 2006, while inflation is forecast to remain at around 3.4 per cent. However, the phasing-out of subsidies on petroleum products in several economies will pose a significant upside risk to the inflationary outlook, increasing the likelihood of a continuation of the moderately tighter monetary policy stance in the region. He noted several downside risks to the economic outlook for the region, especially the possible emergence of more protectionist trade policies in export markets; the still low level of interest rates, giving rise to the continued risk of asset price bubbles; the high level of foreign exchange reserves in several economies; a widening of the gap between savings and investment; and a more serious outbreak of avian flu. Looking at individual economies, he pointed out that China is likely to see continued strong economic growth, despite a slight slowdown in its expansion from 9.2 per cent this year to 8.3 per cent in 2006. The Republic of Korea, by contrast, will experience an increase in economic growth from 3.6 per cent this year to 4.8 per cent in 2006, based on sound macroeconomic fundamentals and solid external demand. Hong Kong SAR's economic growth will, to a

limited extent, be negatively affected by the slowdown in China's growth, resulting in a deceleration of its economic expansion from 5.9 per cent in 2005 to 4.7 per cent in 2006. The anticipated upturn in the global electronics cycle will underpin stronger growth in both Taiwan Province of China and Malaysia, while Singapore's economic growth will be supported by a combination of strong exports, policy initiatives aimed at opening up new foreign markets for exporters, and positive macroeconomic fundamentals.

South Asia

Mr. Hiren Sarkar (ESCAP) continued his presentation with the outlook for *South Asia*, where growth is expected to be robust, with ESCAP forecasts of 6.9 per cent in 2005 and 7.0 per cent in 2006. Inflation, which in 2005 was fuelled by the phasing out of domestic fuel price subsidies, is expected to decline in most countries in 2006, as the pass-through abates and monetary policies continue their cautious tightening stance. The major downside risk for the region would be a continuation of high oil prices, resulting in increased current account deficits and continuing inflationary pressures. In his discussion of individual economies, Hiren Sarkar noted that India remains a significant driver of regional growth in both 2005 and 2006, sustained by robust performances across sectors and by enhanced government spending on infrastructure projects. As in most South Asian oil importers, India's current account balance is expected to post a deficit in both years. Pakistan registered the highest growth in two decades in 2005 and is expected to remain strong in 2006. As in India, growth was broad based, but large scale manufacturing continued to be the main driver. Inflation spiked in 2005, fuelled by strong domestic growth and high oil prices, but is expected to come down in 2006.

Mr. Salahuddin Ahmad (School of Business, University of Liberal Arts Bangladesh) briefly outlined the economic outlook for *Bangladesh*, which enjoyed solid growth of around 5.5 per cent in 2004 and 2005, with a slight increase expected for 2006. Overall growth in manufacturing was satisfactory, not least in the manufacturing of garments and knitwear for the export sector. Salahuddin Ahmad stressed that while this came somewhat as a surprise to many analysts who had expected the Bangladeshi textiles industry to be hard-hit by the phasing out of the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC), it was really in line with policies and investments to enhance productivity and product quality. In the future, however, there is a risk that infrastructure bottlenecks could hamper further growth in this sector.

Mr. Dilli Raj Khanal (Institute for Policy Research and Development, Kathmandu) contributed an assessment of *Nepal's* economic situation and outlook, which he described as precarious, owing mainly to the political instability which had increased since the royal takeover in February 2005. While agricultural output remained relatively stable, construction and tourism suffered from the insecurity, and trade was additionally hit by the phasing out of the ATC. Garment exports from Nepal declined by more than 40 per cent, affecting export earnings as well as employment. In the outlook, remittance inflows will continue to be the main support for domestic consumption, and growth prospects are expected to remain bleak unless the political conflict is resolved.

Ms. Pami Dua (Delhi School of Economics) presented some of her work on the medium-term growth perspectives and the problems in forecasting of the *Indian* economy. A second leading question in her presentation was India's vulnerability to the external environment, particularly related to exports.

Firstly, Pami Dua showed that variations in India's annual GDP growth continue to stem mainly from the agricultural sector, which depends heavily on the monsoon rains as irrigation covers only 40 per cent of the gross cropped area. While agriculture contributes only around 25 per cent of total GDP, the livelihoods of more than 60 per cent of the population still depend on it, thereby translating into volatile domestic demand patterns. Although service sector growth and the increasing prowess of the industrial sector have contributed to a reduction in growth volatility, the vagaries of the monsoon still present a formidable forecasting problem. As such, Pami Dua explained, baseline forecasts are based on the assumption of normal rainfall and an assumed agricultural trend growth rate of 3.5 per cent, and simulations of different monsoon turnouts are used to create alternative scenarios.

Secondly, she analyzed export and current account vulnerability, assessing possible effects of external shocks on the Indian economy. India's exports have shown a strong growth performance in the last years, while the composition of main export destinations has changed significantly. As exports to the United States and to Europe have declined, there was an increase in the exports to East and to Western Asia. Hence, a slowdown in the advanced industrial countries would affect India's exports less than only a few years ago. Within Asia, China has emerged as the main destination for India's exports, while Japan and Hong Kong, SAR are becoming less important. Concerning the composition of export goods, vulnerability has increased, as both commodities and textile and engineering goods are cyclically sensitive. However, the services sector has by now become the main driver of exports, with the ratio of service exports to total exports doubling over the last 20 years. Concerning imports, India's vulnerability has increased on account of its dependence on oil-imports, but it has decreased because of enhanced intra-Asian trade and because of rising non-oil imports. In the medium-term outlook, Pami Dua expects the external sector to show sustained growth, but with a widening trade deficit and continuous deficits on the current account.

During the discussion, Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania) raised the question whether the estimates presented for India included a feedback from cotton production to manufacturing of textiles and clothing, whether services exports also counted healthcare services, and whether there was a noticeable feedback of IT services into overall production efficiency; all of these questions were answered in the affirmative by Pami Dua. Another question concerned the increase in the Indian oil import bill, which was mainly owing to higher prices, and not so much to higher import volumes, as Pami Dua clarified.

Western Asia

Mr. Fadhil Mahdi from Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) presented the economic outlook for *Western Asia*, where growth is being led by the countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) which are benefiting from higher international oil prices. The More Diversified Economies (MDE) are, however, also growing more rapidly than in recent years (with the exception of 2004), partially owing to intraregional spillover effects from workers' remittances and tourism. Aggregate growth of the GCC countries is estimated at 6.2 per cent for 2005, and 6.4 per cent for 2006, whereas growth is estimated at 4.3 per cent and 4.4 per cent for the MDE, respectively. Overall, the Western Asia region (excluding Egypt), is estimated to grow by 5.8 per cent in 2005 and 6.2 per cent in 2006. This compares very favourably with 1.8 per cent before the current oil price boom.

Total oil export revenues of the Western Asia region are estimated at US\$283 billion for 2005 – representing an increase of US\$68.8 billion over 2004. For 2006, they are projected at US\$303 billion under the low oil price scenario (US\$52 per barrel), and US\$332 billion under the high oil price scenario (US\$57 per barrel).

Governments in the oil-exporting countries have used conservative budgetary assumptions for oil prices in 2005 and 2006, which results in an "expenditure lag" that will cause the fiscal impact of the boom in these economies to spread over time. Budgetary assumptions are currently in the range of US\$21-27. Hence, growth in the current cycle has largely been private-sector-led, with the public sector lagging behind.

Although the current economic momentum is expected to continue as long as oil prices remain high, there are some downside risks. Extremely rapid growth in stock market capitalization and real estate prices across the region indicate that asset bubbles may be forming, with the associated risk of a sudden burst should heavy real estate investment lead to a supply glut, or if oil prices were to decline dramatically. Overall, the current economic boom in the region is fragile, as it is based on a single commodity rather than on improvements in productivity.

Inflationary pressures in the region increased during 2005, as liquidity increased strongly particularly in the GCC - despite sterilization policies, and there has been rapid growth in private sector credit. Official inflation measures in many countries in the region don't reflect this, but anecdotal evidence of higher inflationary pressures includes increases in housing rents in Jordan and UAE, as well as in public sector salaries in many countries; in Iraq, high inflation is largely associated with the supply side (cost-push inflation).

The region has one of the highest unemployment levels worldwide, and it is particularly high in the conflict-affected economies. In Saudi Arabia, the nationals' unemployment rate has declined due to labour "nationalization" policies as well as strong economic growth. In the GCC, labour markets are segmented between nationals and immigrants, preventing adequate absorption of the native labour force.

Continuing with some individual country outlooks, Fadhil Mahdi highlighted the situation in *Iraq*, where ESCWA expects GDP growth of around 6 per cent for 2005 and 12 per cent in 2006. The country is, however, still affected by supply disruptions in the energy sector, destroyed infrastructure and restrictions on mobility. Also, unemployment remains very high as a result of the conflict, and is currently estimated at 26 per cent. On a different note, Iraq managed to build up foreign exchange reserves of US\$7.9 billion in 2004, about 3.2 months of imports, and the New Iraqi Dinar has gained remarkable stability, largely owing to the new Central Bank auction system.

Palestine's economy is currently stagnant, and the country relies on workers' remittances to ameliorate the low levels of income. The "separation wall" contributes to the economic weakness by partitioning markets and obstructing labour and goods mobility. Unemployment was 28.6 per cent in 2004, up from 14.1 per cent in 2000.

Growth in *Lebanon* is estimated at 2 per cent for 2005, but the political turmoil over the past year is estimated to have cost the economy more than 1 per cent of GDP. Tourist inflows have contracted remarkably in 2005, and with one of the world's highest debt-to-GDP ratios, there is risk of devaluation and further deterioration of the economy.

Mr. Fadhil Mahdi concluded his presentation by drawing attention to economic policy challenges in the region. As main priorities in the GCC, he identified the channeling of surpluses towards productive activities and human development objectives, while building financial reserves to prepare for periods of low oil prices; curbing of speculative lending by banks through interest rate policy; controlling of inflationary pressures; and building of larger regional markets through investment in the region. In the MDE countries, Yemen should seek to relax regulatory restrictions to investment in order to benefit from the spillover of the current oil boom, and encourage lending through improving interest rate regulations. His recommendation for Syria was to relax restrictions on private investment and encourage economic diversification in order to reduce dependence on depleting oil reserves.

As policy priorities for countries in conflict, especially Iraq, he pointed out the need to achieve political reconciliation; to raise financial resources for labour-intensive growth programmes; to relieve critical bottlenecks in the economy (such as oil refining and electricity); to invest in oil production capacity; to promote development banking; and to pursue a waiver of war reparations.

Latin America and the Caribbean

Mr. Andre Hofman from Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (ECLAC) presented the economic outlook for *Latin America and the Caribbean*, which performed well in 2004 and will continue to do so in 2005 but at a slower rate. The region is expected to grow 4.5 per cent and 4.3 per cent in 2005 and 2006, respectively, owing to growth especially in South America (4.5 per cent), while Mexico and Central America will lag behind at 3 per cent. Thus, growth is heterogeneous across the region, which is, however, experiencing four consecutive years of growth for the fist time since the beginning of the nineties, and GDP per capita is growing stronger than before.

Argentina's growth is settling into a new path not only owing to the recuperation process but also to increasing capacity, but it has not yet reached equilibrium. *Chile's* domestic demand's steady path will continue. *Venezuela's* growth is due to recuperation and an oil bonanza while *Peru's* growth is owed mainly to strong external and domestic demand. *Brazil* will grow by 3.8 per cent in 2006 and 3.5 per cent in

2005. After a slump in he first quarter of 2005, growth recuperated in the second quarter as inflationary pressures decreased and monetary policy became looser, and the fiscal situation improved. *Mexico* will grow only by 3 per cent in 2005 as the manufacturing sector is hurt by fewer exports to the United States. Some recuperation is expected for 2006 (3.5 per cent) as public investment in infrastructure increases. The *Caribbean* grew below average except in Trinidad and Tobago (owing to the oil boom).

Recent growth has been driven by export demand especially of commodities resulting in highest levels of growth in many years. Terms of trade have improved, and are likely to continue to do so in the near future. The region's trade and current account enjoyed a third year of surplus. Domestic demand is also increasing, mainly owing to investment while consumption is steady.

Inflation is easing and remains stable except in the Southern Cone, where inflation has been above target in Chile and Argentina. Fiscal measures are needed in the latter. Monetary policy has been restrictive up to now especially in Chile and Mexico, but will loosen as inflationary pressures decrease.

An element of concern is the appreciating real exchange rate especially in Brazil, where problems in competitiveness will rise if trends in commodity prices are reversed and inflationary pressure increase. Risks to the growth forecast may also come from a possible sharp slowdown in trade partners (e.g. US), in case of a disorderly adjustment of global imbalances; from a reversal in commodity prices; or from a sudden and drastic hike in international interest rates. Concerns have also arisen about a Dutch Disease effect from high remittances.

On the upside, sovereign risk ratings have decreased drastically to historical lows throughout the region, including Argentina. Debt ratios have improved somewhat in terms of exports and GDP, although debt problems continue to exist in Mexico and Brazil.

Mr. Arturo O'Connell (Banco Central de la Republica Argentina) commented on the economic outlook for *Argentina*, where GDP is growing at 4 percentage points - above the peak of 1998. The expansion is no longer a recovery - which was led by the devaluation, but is now set to moderate. Unemployment has decreased but is still high despite labour-intensive growth. Exports, especially those of manufactured goods, increased. Controlling inflation will remain a challenge.

Ms. Cristina Rodriguez (Metroeconomica) commented on the economic outlook for *Venezuela*, for which she expects higher growth rates than forecasted by ECLAC, owing to an expected 40 per cent increase in public investment. In 2005, foreign exchange reserves increased as exchange controls were relaxed. Consumption also recovered, owing to increased employment and higher government transfers. Inflationary pressures did not emerge despite a fiscal deficit, as price increases were kept low by the anchored exchange rate and by price controls. Business expectations are lower as the international oil market looks less positive.

3. Economic policy issues

3.1 Unwinding global economic imbalances

Mr. Heiner Flassbeck (UNCTAD) introduced the problem of global imbalances by emphasising its complex nature. The traditional view focuses on the potential role of significant real exchange rate movements in contributing to higher savings (especially in the United States) and increased investment spending (particularly in emerging economies in Asia). In contrast, Heiner Flassbeck argued that the starting point should be a closer analysis of different shocks affecting surplus countries in the past and their effects on their domestic economies and external balances. In this vein, he presented evidence on selected countries that have in the past either posted continuous surpluses or moved from deficits to surpluses by analysing how their economies responded to the different shocks that they have experienced over time.

While the major global current account deficits are concentrated only in a few countries, such as Spain, Australia, Italy, and - most notably - the United States, the corresponding surpluses are spread out

among a larger group of countries. Among the surplus countries, Japan leads with a huge current account surplus, followed by the economies from the euro area (in particular Germany), China and the oil-exporters. While the recent oil price shock explains the switch in the latter group of countries from current account deficits throughout the 1990s to surpluses in the past few years, the other countries were subject to a number of diverse shocks in the period between 1980 and 2004. In the continuation of his presentation, Heiner Flassbeck focused his attention on these countries' experiences in order to try and derive more general lessons about possible rebalancing mechanisms.

In Japan, which has been a traditional surplus country since the 1980s, the biggest ever real appreciation of the currency in the beginning of the 1990s, of around 50-60 per cent, had no effect on surpluses. In other words, the exchange rate shock was simply absorbed. The fact that the appreciation did not remove the current account surplus is explained largely by the squeeze of corporate profits, which kept export prices at the same level. According to the speaker, this possibility of an exchange rate shock absorption was the lesson to be learned from Japan.

In Germany, after a period of big surpluses in the 1980s till the end of 1990's, there was a sudden sharp drop into deficit until 2000, when the current account returned to a surplus position. The shock, as argued by Heiner Flassbeck, was the German reunification, with the associated deindustrialization in East Germany, where 50 per cent of the current account deficit accrued. France followed a different path – from a current account surplus to a deficit in 2004. A closer look at the private saving, or government dissaving, however, reveals a common trait of both countries: Saving rates in terms of household and government savings have not changed much, but major changes occurred in corporate savings. A large increase in German corporate savings was owed to a major real depreciation in Germany compared to other euro area countries, which in turn was due to productivity increases and low inflation rates.

In the third case, China, which is not a traditional surplus country, the large surpluses of the recent years are the result of an untypical shock. While the real exchange rate for the overall economy remained relatively constant, significant structural changes in this country's economy caused a real depreciation in its most important sector, manufacturing. As massive FDI inflows over the past few years have lead to a productivity increase by 10-15 per cent, export prices for manufacturing goods could decline in spite of rising wages. In tandem, corporate profits and corporate savings increased, bolstering saving rates in spite of a decline in household savings.

The Republic of Korea is an example of a country which has been affected by a major shock – the 1997 Asian financial crisis – which turned around its current account balance. Before the crisis, Korea posted a substantial deficit, driven by high foreign savings and a large government deficit. After the sharp real currency depreciation during the crisis, increased corporate profits accounted for an upward shift in corporate savings, and a shift of the current account into surplus. Argentina experienced a similar shock in 2001-2002 when foreign inflows stopped abruptly and the economy was deprived of the means to invest. This, however, didn't last long, as national savings increased quickly, substituting foreign inflows and helping to turn the current account into surplus. Although no detailed data is available, chances are that the main factor behind this increase of gross savings was again increased corporate savings, as corporate profits increased in response to the devaluation shock. Brazil was provided as another example where real depreciation (in 2001) triggered a turnaround of the current account from deficit to surplus. Again, corporate profits must have increased, and investment quickly returned to normal levels.

According to Heiner Flassbeck, the examples of Korea, Argentina and Brazil show how real exchange rate adjustments can indeed cause expenditure switching, away from imports and back to exports, turning around the current account and benefiting the domestic sector. This behaviour is in line with exchange rate theory, but not with the savings-investment point of view.

As for the United States, recent global economic developments have not been sufficient to dent the current account deficit. The fall in real exchange rates has not been enough to offset the growth differences between the US and the major industrialised surplus economies (Japan and Germany), where an increase in domestic absorption would be possible but is politically unwanted. In contrast, an increase in domestic absorption would be anything but impossible in fast growing China. Thus, the US's major trade partners

continue to post surpluses and to provide the country with large financial inflows which substitute for household and government savings and help finance the growing deficit.

During the discussion, Mr. Pingfan Hong (United Nations) expressed reservations on key issues raised in the presentation on global imbalances. While he agreed that there was a variety of factors affecting current account imbalances, such as cyclical, structural and institutional, he found it hard to believe that all of these factors should have nothing to do with savings and investment. Raising further methodological issues, Hans Timmer (World Bank) argued that the analysis should not start by looking at the determinants of savings and investment behaviour but first consider the real exchange rate effects and then move to behaviour, as the economic logic goes first from prices to exchange rates and then to behaviour.

In response to the first concern, Mr. Heiner Flassbeck noted that the savings-investment identity was just an identity and did not imply causality. If one includes systematically companies' profits into the model – and they become endogenous – then other factors have to be included in order to explain imbalances. As for the methodological concern, he argued that shocks such as the oil price shock were really exogenous to the system. Also, wages were under the strong influence of governments, as there were laws allowing governments to intervene in setting the wages. FDI represented another exogenous variable that affected savings and investment behaviour.

Further questions were raised during the discussion as to how the imbalances could be reduced, and, in particular, whether a combination of different measures would be appropriate, and if so, what such a combination should be. In his reply, Heiner Flassbeck emphasized that in the case of China, the problem was not an economy wide currency undervaluation but only in specific sectors as a result of increased competitiveness owing to FDI. It was hence unclear whether a general revaluation would be an appropriate policy response. In contrast, Germany and Japan should clearly let their currencies appreciate, but this was not possible for Germany as a member of the European Monetary Union. Both Germany and Japan should, however, stop any attempts to permanently improve competitiveness by pushing their economies on a deflationary path and depressing domestic demand.

Prof. Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania) noted that in each of the presented country cases, one could find something reasonable to explain why there were countries with big surpluses and deficits. He gave two examples – Japan and China - where the reasons behind the high savings rates were largely related to the low immigration rate and military burden in the former and to the low relative wage rate in the latter.

3.2 Foreign direct investments in Africa

Mr. Hilary Nwokeabia (UNCTAD) presented a review of FDI inflows to Africa, which was based on UNCTAD's *World Investment Report* issued in September 2005. The purpose of the presentation was to respond to two key questions: Whether FDI is flowing to the industries where it is needed most in Africa; and what role policies of recipient countries can play in targeting FDI flows to sectors that would enhance employment creation and poverty reduction.

FDI flows to Africa remained buoyant in 2004 and constituted the largest source of external finance for the region. The main driving forces behind this performance were increased investment in natural resource exploration and production, buoyant commodities markets, continued liberalization of FDI policies and higher investment returns in the continent. The region's top recipients were predominantly oil exporting countries such as Nigeria, Angola, Equatorial Guinea, Sudan, Egypt and Algeria. However, some non-oil producing countries, including Democratic Republic of Congo, Morocco and Tunisia, were also large recipients of FDI.

FDI policy responses at national, regional and global levels focused mainly on liberalizing legal frameworks, improving fiscal regimes and securing foreign exchange retention. However, targeting of FDI inflows to achieve diversification, either into value chains or agriculture where most of the poor are

employed, was not sufficiently taken into account in national policies. None of 114 FDI policy measures examined in 2005 contained provisions for targeting FDI inflows. All were designed to address broad legal, fiscal and monetary arrangements to enhance stability of the FDI flows.

According to the speaker, the prospects for 2005 were encouraging. FDI flows to Africa were expected to double in the next few years, reflecting strong global economic growth; higher prices for commodities such as oil, gold, platinum and diamonds; improved corporate returns and continuing improvement of the investment climate. However, most FDI was, again, likely to flow to the oil industry. Against this backdrop, there was the need to use FDI inflows to promote diversification into areas such as processing and manufacturing of primary products that would have positive spillover effects on human capital, employment, productivity and incomes.

3.3 Quality of life: Comparing India and China

Prof. Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania), Mr. Sudip Ranjan Basu (UNCTAD) and Mr. A.L. Nagar (National Institute of Public Finance and Policy) presented a joint work on *Quality of Life: Comparing India and China*. In their analysis, they combine different indicators of economic, social and political well-being to construct an overall quality of life indicator which is comparable over time and across countries. In contrast to conventional wisdom, their analysis suggests that improvements in the quality of live between 1980 and 2003 were not significantly different in China and in India.

Since quality of life is a latent variable which is not readily measurable, the authors identify a number of indicators whose variation is supposed to explain the variation in quality of life. These indicators are normalized and used to construct five principal components, assuming a linear relationship between components and the pertaining individual indicators. The five principal components are "education and health", "infrastructure", "social participation", "institutional quality" and "living standard" - the latter determined solely by real GDP per capita (measured in purchasing power parity). The overall quality of life index is then obtained as the weighted average of the principal components, where the weights are assigned according to the amount of variation in the overall index that is explained by each component.

An analysis of the changes in the main components over time (between 1980 and 2003) reveals that while all of them have risen over this period in both China and India, marked differences exist between components as well as between countries. For instance, the "education and health" indices for both countries show a linear positive trend over the entire time period, with China outperforming India. On the other hand, the increase in the "infrastructure" index is stronger in India than in China, driven mainly by the indicator for "road length". The "social participation" index is relatively volatile for both countries, with apparent structural breaks in the mid 1980s for India and in the late 1980s for China (when women's participation started to increase dramatically). Not surprisingly, the overall increase in this index between 1980 and 2003 was stronger in China than in India. The "institutional quality" index is the only index that shows a reversal in trend growth for China after rising considerably until the mid-1990s while for India, it is also volatile and shows only a moderate increase over the entire period.

Overall, the combined quality of life indices in both China and India show an increasing trend over the entire period. While the growth rate of the index is slightly higher for China than for India, this difference is not statistically significant, rebutting the conventional wisdom that China is outperforming India.

During the discussion, several conference participants voiced concerns over selection, quantification and weighting of individual indicators, pointing out specifically the issues of political freedom and inequality. Mr. Stephen Hall (University of Leicester) also questioned the comparability of scaled indicators which by definition must have the same start- and endpoints. In addition, Robert Vos (United Nations) noted that the use of constant weights for individual indicators might distort the results, as it was likely that these weights were time-variant. In response, Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania) clarified that the main idea behind the presented work was to improve on the UNDP Human Development Indicators (HDI), which use rather arbitrary weights for individual components. The presented measuring and weighting methods were chosen in accordance with limitations of data availability and statistical limitations. He added that absolute levels of indicators were taken into account, as the data had been adjusted for different ranges.

3.4 Official reserves and currency management in Asia

Mr. Avinash Persaud (Intelligence Capital Ltd., London) began his presentation on *Official Reserves and Currency Management in Asia* by stating one of his key conclusions, namely that the remedies currently proposed to rebalance the global economy would prove irrelevant for the imbalances while presenting a severe risk for Asian economies. In particular, he referred to the common argument of a saving glut that considers the deficits in the US economy a positive phenomenon, helping to absorb excess liquidity in the global economy. As he pointed out, however, saving rates across Asia have been largely stable, while there has been a marked fall in investment. Consequently, it seems hard to argue in favour of a saving glut, when in fact the Asian economies and the global economy are characterized by an investment shortfall. One commonly proposed remedy is currency appreciation, even though various examples show that exchange rate changes on their own tend to be ineffective. In the case of Japan, for example, currency appreciation was not accompanied by an increase in consumption and investment, but instead by a deflationary trend. Against this backdrop, he again emphasized his main conclusion that many remedies that are currently under discussion are potentially dangerous and harmful for the global economy, and that the only effective solution would be measures aimed at achieving higher investment rates.

In reply to a question, Avinash Persaud pointed out that the global financial system itself seemed stable, but that there were substantial risks, especially for financial markets. The current account deficit of the United States was merely the symptom of the imbalances, while their underlying cause was an excessively expansive monetary policy over the past years in reaction to the weakening of the stock market.

3.5 Economic aspects of a global pandemic

Mr. Clark Abt (Abt Associates Inc.) gave a presentation on the *economic aspects of a global bird flu pandemic*. The presentation was structured into four main parts: the impact of the pandemic on the world economy and population; the necessary measures to reduce risks and losses; the potential impact on macroeconomic indicators; and the conclusion.

First, he indicated that the global bird flu pandemic in its human-to-human contagious variant constituted the greatest threat to the world economic and population today and over ears to come. He illustrated his view by pointing to the estimates of potential material and human losses. The economic losses, in the current state of unpreparedness, are forecast to range between 71 to 3,000 billion dollars for the United States, and 300 to 12,000 billion for the world economy, representing between 1 to 30 per cent of US GDP and 1 to 25 per cent of world GDP, respectively. The potential death toll, according to the speaker, would vary between 0.1 million to 50 million in the US and 10 to 100 million worldwide.

Second, Clark Abt presented possible long- and short-term solutions. Long-term measures include immediate massive investment in effective vaccine and anti-viral mass production sufficient to treat up to 3 billion people in 2-3 years. With respect to short-term solutions, he suggested the recourse to non-pharmaceutical measures. He added that those measures entail, among other things, worldwide surveillance networks to provide early warning, public awareness through education, pre-stocking of non-perishable foods in homes and workplaces. More importantly, he recognized that an effective way to lower the risk of bird flu mutation into human-to-human contagious flu would be to limit or reduce contagion from poultry to human beings.

Third, he indicated that the most impacted would be the poor and densely populated countries. Concerning the impact on macroeconomic variables, he showed that national debt and fiscal deficit would probably rise, while employment, labor productivity, and consumption would decline.

Mr. Clark Abt concluded with both optimistic and pessimistic tones. He recalled that the bird flu pandemic threat to economies and populations is current, grave and abiding. He went on to point out, however, that there was more bioscience knowledge today than ever before to prevent, control and mitigate the pandemic. He ended his presentation by insisting that political will and international interdisciplinary cooperation were needed to make good use of the existing bioscience knowledge.

During the discussion, Peter Pauly (University of Toronto) highlighted the need to think through the economic issues related to the pandemic in more detail. Steven James (Department of Finance, Canada) expressed concern about what he called overly pessimistic estimates of the economic impact of a global bird flu pandemic. He backed his view by pointing to the meagre economic impact of the 1918 worldwide flu pandemic. He attributed this rather benign outcome to potential reallocation effects.

3.6 Raúl Prebisch memorial lecture: South and East Asia: Leading the world economy

Prof. Lawrence Klein (University of Pennsylvania) held the 2005 Raúl Prebisch Memorial Lecture on South and East Asia: Leading the World Economy. As Professor Klein pointed out in his introduction, the tradition of project LINK and its close cooperation with UNCTAD and the UN Secretariat has evolved from its early stages when the focus was on the major industrial countries, to a broader analysis of the total world economy today. This broadening of perspective does justice to the vision of Raúl Prebisch, former Secretary-General of UNCTAD, whose main interest was improving the status of the developing countries in the world economy.

In his work, Raúl Prebisch established the distinction between the "industrial center" (the advanced countries) and the "periphery" (the developing countries).² Within this framework, he stressed the structural imbalance between center and periphery in terms of income elasticity of imports – a high income elasticity of imports from the center in contrast to a low income elasticity for agricultural imports from the periphery – as the major obstacle to development, which could only be overcome through import substitution strategies.

According to Lawrence Klein, however, the current global economic picture shows a somewhat different and more encouraging pattern, in which developing countries enjoy much stronger economic growth than the advanced industrial countries. Adding a third group of countries, namely the former centrally planned economies – now economies in transition –, he argued that the world's new growth locomotives were precisely from this latter group as well as from the so-called periphery. The grouping of Brazil, Russia, India and China (BRICs) is a case in point.

In this globalized, tripartite world, import substitution no longer seems the answer to development challenges, Klein continued, pointing instead to other ways to harness globalization for development. In his view, developing countries should aim at higher valued added output while simultaneously increasing productivity across all sectors, including primary production. In the tradition of Paul Krugman and Lawrence Lau, Klein suggested that higher values of total factor productivity (TFP) are the key to success and that the Asian Miracle before 1997 was really a mirage owing to the fact that high growth rates were not correlated with corresponding increases in TFP. A second problem at that time was that some of the Asian countries had unwisely pegged their currencies to a rising US dollar throughout the 1990s, thereby effectively pricing themselves out of the market.

² See, for example, Raúl Prebisch, "International Trade and Payments in an Era of Coexistence: Commercial Policy in the Underdeveloped Countries", *American Economic Review*, 49, May 1959, 251-73.

According to Lawrence Klein, the recent growth performances of China and India represent a new Asian Miracle, one which holds many potential lessons for other developing countries and the world as a whole.

The Chinese experience, as summarized by the speaker, was one of step-by-step gradualism, beginning with a concept of market-socialism with a Chinese flavour under Deng Xiao Peng. Early reform steps after 1978 were a comprehensive land reform, the establishment of special economic zones, and improvements in the education system. In addition, the basic food supply problem was solved and the significant demographic policy of one child per family was implemented. Later reform steps included the freeing-up of small enterprises in manufacturing, retailing, and controlled trade, and subsequent steps included an increase in infrastructure investments, the unification of differential exchange rates, the enhancement of foreign direct investment (FDI) inflows, and the beginning of a financial system reform. In addition, China accessed the World Trade Organisation (WTO) in 2001. More recently, economic policy support for growth was diversified towards the previously neglected western and interior parts of the country, and new steps are being taken towards some degree of flexibility in the exchange rate policy.

As a result of these policies, China was able to sustain high GDP growth rates between eight and ten per cent for more than 25 years and its economy is still going strong. While other Asian countries complained about China's competition in export markets, especially during the 1997-98 financial crisis, China's import demand has, over time, provided new export opportunities for these countries, a development which has already started to spread to Latin American exporters as well. Lawrence Klein cautioned, however, that China will remain a strong competitor in world markets, as was to be seen after the abolishment of the textile quota regime (Agreement on Textiles and Clothing, ATC) at the beginning of 2005, when Chinese exports flooded the markets in the advanced economies, displacing exports from less competitive developing countries. Independent of potential future exchange rate adjustments, labour costs in China – while rising - are still low enough to guarantee that Chinese exports will stay highly competitive in the world market.

In his analysis of India, Lawrence Klein noted the marked growth acceleration after the introduction of economic reforms in the 1990s. Especially the take-off of the service sector has become a stabilizing force in an economy that used to be dependent on agricultural output and therefore on the vagaries of the monsoon rains. India's success as an offshoring centre, especially of business and software services, lies in its comparative advantage of a work force fluent in the English language and with strong scientific and engineering skills, combined with relatively low labour costs. In addition, he pointed to the potentially high productivity gains from harnessing India's IT strength also for the domestic economy – emulating the productivity increase in the US since the 1980s.

Unlike China, India has not implemented a strict demographic policy in the past, which will probably lead to India's population outnumbering that of China soon, making India the largest country in the world. More importantly, Lawrence Klein noted that this implies a growing Indian labour force over the next decades, while China's labour force is expected to decline in relation to its overall population. While it is unclear whether China will be able to avoid the Japanese pitfall of a rapidly greying population, India is not likely to suffer from too few workers having to support an expanding group of aged citizens. A bigger threat for Indian development stems from the increased incidence of the HIV-AIDS epidemic, especially in the most economically advanced regions.

In his concluding remarks, Lawrence Klein stressed that other economies of Southeast Asia and Northeast Asia were also performing strongly after the 1997-98 crisis, and Latin America as well might eventually realise the gains that Raúl Prebisch envisioned for the periphery. While West Asia and North Africa could see strong economic growth if they managed their resource endowments well, the route to better living conditions was likely to be more tortuous for most of Africa.

In the general discussion, questions were raised about the sustainability of China's high growth rates in the future, its performance as a WTO member, as well as its rising income inequality, and the reliability of Chinese data on poverty and inequality. In his answers, Lawrence Klein made it clear that he expected Chinese economic growth to remain strong until 2010 at least, given the economic impetus of the

upcoming Olympic Games in 2008 and the world exposition in Shanghai in 2010. He cautioned, however, that the wage differential was a variable to watch. While China had not violated the WTO principles, it had indeed snatched up large market shares, especially in the textiles sector, causing protectionist rhetorics in the US and other advanced economies. Concerning inequality, this had indeed risen in China, and Lawrence Klein professed that he was unsure about whether/when this might lead to animosities between the rich and the political class, as it is currently the case in Russia. He was, however, optimistic about improvements in the quality of data from China's National Bureau of Statistics, as statistical surveys were getting better and international standards were increasingly observed.

ANNEXES

<u>Annex 1</u>

<u>Agenda</u>

Monday 31 October

| 10:00-10:15 | Opening Chair : Peter Pauly |
|-------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Supachai Panitchpakdi Director-General, UNCTAD, Geneva (TBC) |
| 10:15-12:00 | Global Outlook Chair : Peter Pauly |
| | United Nations Project LINK Rob Vos, United Nations, New York |
| | International Monetary Fund Thomas Helbling, IMF, Washington |
| | World Bank Hans Timmer, The World Bank, Washington |
| 12:00-13:00 | Invited Presentation Chair : Peter Pauly |
| | Recovery in Europe: Will It Eventually Materialize? Norbert Walter, Deutsche Bank, Frankfurt |
| 13:00-14:30 | Lunch |
| 14:30-16:30 | Global Outlook (cont.) Chair : Bert Hickman |
| | OECD Pete Richardson, OECD, Paris |
| | National Institute of Economic and Social Research <i>Ray Barrell, NIESR, London</i> |
| | Agricultural Markets Willy Meyers, University of Missouri |
| | The World Oil Market Robert Kaufmann, Boston University |
| | General Discussion |

| 16:30-17:30 | Invited Presentation Chair : Thomas Wilson | | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| | Unwinding Global Economic Imbalances Heiner Flassbeck, UNCTAD, Geneva | | |
| | General Discussion | | |
| <u>Tuesday 1 November</u> | | | |
| 9:30-11:30 | Regional Economic Outlook Chair : Delia Nilles | | |
| | Western Europe : Summary Ray Barrell, NIESR, London | | |
| | Eastern Europe and the CIS : Summary <i>Rumen Dobrinsky, UN - ECE , Geneva</i> | | |
| | Sustainability of Economic Growth in Russia Andrei Roudoi, Global Insight, Boston | | |
| | General Discussion | | |
| 11:30-13:00 | Regional Economic Outlook (cont.) Chair : Byron Gangnes | | |
| | United States Lawrence R. Klein, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia | | |
| | Japan Kanemi Ban, Osaka University | | |
| | General Discussion | | |
| 13:00-14:30 14:30-16:30 | Lunch Invited Presentations Chair : Stephen Hall | | |
| | Quality of Life : Comparing India and China S.R. Basu, L.R. Klein, and A.L. Nagar, UNCTAD, University of Pennsylvania, and NIPFP, Delhi | | |
| | Official Reserves and Currency Management in Asia Avinash Persaud, Intelligence Capital Ltd., London | | |
| | General Discussion | | |
| 16:30-17:30 | Regional Economic Outlook (cont.) Chair : Adolfo Castilla | | |
| | Asia : Summary Hiren Sarkar, ESCAP, Bangkok | | |
| | General Discussion | | |

Wednesday 2 November

| 9:30-12:30 | Regional Economic Outlook (cont.) Chair : Mette Rolland |
|-------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Latin America André Hofman, ECLAC, Santiago |
| | General Discussion |
| | Africa : Summary Janvier Nkurunziza, ECA, Addis Ababa |
| | Foreign Direct Investment in Africa Hilary Nwokeabia, UNCTAD, Geneva |
| | General Discussion |
| | Middle East : Summary Fadhil Mahdi, ESCWA, Beirut |
| | General Discussion |
| 12:30-13:00 | Special Session Chair: Peter Pauly |
| | Economic Aspects of a Global Pandemic Clark Abt, Abt Associates, Boston |
| 13:00-14:30 | Lunch |
| 15:00-17:00 | UNCTAD Special Session Palais des Nations, Room XIX Chair : TBA |
| | Presentation of UNCTAD Report "Developing Countries in International Trade 2005 – Trade and Development Index" <i>Khalilur Rahman, UNCTAD, Geneva</i> |
| | 2005 Raul Prebisch Memorial Lecture Lawrence R. Klein, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia |
| 17:00 | Close of Meeting |

LINK Spring Meeting 31 October-2 November 2005 GENEVA

LIST OF COUNTRY REPORTS

| NO. | NAME OF THE COUNTRY | AUTHOR |
|-----|---------------------|-----------------------------------|
| 1 | Costa Rica | Juan-Rafael Vargas |
| 2 | Italy | Carlo D'Adda |
| 3 | Colombia | Carolina Mantilla & Carlos Patino |
| 4 | Nepal | D.R. Khanal |
| 5 | Angola | Suzana Camacho |
| 6 | Venezuela | Cristina Rodriguez |
| 7 | Turkey | Suleyman Ozmucur |
| 8 | Тодо | Kodjo Elvo |
| 9 | Slovak Republic | J. Haluska & M. Olexa |
| 10 | Bulgaria | Garabed Minassian |
| 11 | Malaysia | Muthi Samudram |
| 12 | Hong Kong | Chou Win Lin |
| 13 | Slovenia | F. Stiblar & Joe Mencinger |
| 14 | Croatia | Andrea Mervar |
| 15 | Japan | Kanemi Ban |
| 16 | Mexico | Alfredo Coutino |
| 17 | Korea | Dongchul Cho |
| 18 | Ukraine | V. Heyets & M. Skrypnychenko |
| 19 | Hungary | Andras Simon |
| 20 | Norway | T. Eika & M. Rolland |
| 21 | Australia | Peter Brain |
| 22 | Austria | Ulrich Schuh |
| 23 | Ghana | C. K. Dordunoo & E. Richard |
| 24 | Taiwan | Chung-Shu Wu |
| 25 | China | Zhang Yaxiong |
| 26 | Philippines | Dennis Arroyo |
| 27 | Mexico | Eduardo Loria |
| 28 | Czech Republic | Jan Hosek & Milan Klima |
| 29 | Germany | R. Dohrn & G. Barabas |
| 30 | Argentina | Arturo O'Connell |
| 31 | Switzerland | Delia Nilles |

<u>Annex 3</u>

LINK Fall Meeting 31 October-2 November 2005 GENEVA

LIST OF COUNTRY FORECASTS

| NO. | NAME OF THE COUNTRY | NAME OF AUTHOR |
|-----|---------------------|---------------------|
| 1 | Belgium | Simon Erlich |
| 2 | Norway | Andreas Benedictow |
| 3 | Japan | Ban Kanemi |
| 4 | Mexico | Alfredo Coutino |
| 5 | China | Tao Liping |
| 6 | Turkey | Suleyman Ozmucur |
| 7 | Switzerland | Delia Niles |
| 8 | Тодо | Kodjo Evlo |
| 9 | Spain | Julian Perez |
| 10 | Costa Rica | Juan-Rafael Vargas |
| 11 | Sudan | Faiza Mohamed |
| 12 | Slovak Republic | Jan Haluska |
| 13 | Austria | AndreasUlrich Schuh |
| 14 | Philippines | Dennis Arroyo |
| 15 | Croatia | Mervar Andrea |
| 16 | Korea | Sukha Shin |
| 17 | Italy | Monica Ferrari |
| 18 | Malaysia | Muthi Samudram |
| 19 | Bulgaria | Garabed Minassian |
| 20 | Australia | Duncan Ironmonger |
| 21 | Denmark | Tony M. Kristensen |
| 22 | Colombia | Carolina Mejia |
| 23 | Slovenia | Joe Mencinger |
| 24 | Ghana | Cletus Dordunoo |
| 25 | Singapore | Toh Mun-Heng |
| 26 | Hong Kong | Chou Win Lin |
| 27 | Czech Republic | Milan Klima |
| 28 | Ukraine | M. Skrypnychenko |
| 29 | Israel | Rachel Sheinin |
| 30 | India | Sundaram |
| 31 | Taiwan | Chung Shu |
| 32 | Brazil | E.J. Reis |
| 33 | Hungary | Simon Andras |
| 34 | Romania | C. Ciupagea |
| 35 | Bangladesh | Salahuddin Ahmad |
| 36 | South Africa | Renee Eyden |
| 37 | Nigeria | Sam Olofin |

Clark Abt Abt Associates Inc. 19 Follen St. Cambridge, MA 02138, USA tel: 617-876-2835 fax: 617-234-0007 e-mail: clarkabt@aol.com

Salahuddin Ahmad Dean, School of Business University of Liberal Arts Bangladesh House 11 Road 7D, Sector 9, Uttara Dhaka - 1215, BANGLADESH tel: 880-2-895-0014 fax: 880-2-891-3501 e-mail: I_d_p_i@yahoo.com

Dennis Arroyo National Planning and Policy Staff NEDA 5/F, NEDA sa Pasig Building 12 Blessed Jose Maria Escriva Drive Ortigas Center, Pasig City1605, PHILIPPINES tel: 632-631-3283/3712 fax: 632-631-3721 e-mail: dmarroyo@neda.gov.ph

Kanemi Ban Graduate School of Economics Osaka University 1-7, Machikaneyama Toyonaka Osaka 560-0043, JAPAN tel: 81-6-6850-5221 fax: 81-6-6850-5256 e-mail: ban@econ.osaka-u.ac.jp

Erin Bell Institute for Policy Analysis University of Toronto 140 St. George Str., Suite 325 Toronto, Ontario M5S 3G6, CANADA tel: 416-978-5353 fax: 416-971-2071 e-mail: ebell@chass.utoronto.ca Grigor Agabekian DPAD United Nations DC 2- 2180 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4712 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: agabekian@un.org

Clive Altshuler DESA United Nations 2 UN Plaza Room 2176 New York, Ny 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4707 fax: 212-963-4116 e-mail: altshuler@un.org

Faiza Awad Mohamed Osman Macro-economic Oplicie Directorate Ministry of Finance and National Economy P.O. Box 2092 Nile Avenue B.O. Office 296 Khartoum, SUDAN tel: 249-183-784-536 fax: 249-183-780351 e-mail: faiza_awad@hotmail.com

Ray Barrell National Institute of Economic and Social Research 2 Dean Trench Street Smith Square London SW1P 3HE, UNITED KINGDOM tel: 44-207-654-1925 fax: 44-207-654-1900 e-mail: rbarrell@niesr.ac.uk

Villy Bergstrom Deputy Governor Sveriges Riksbank Tallbacksvagen 32 A SE 75645 Uppsala, SWEDEN tel: 46-18-302-911 fax: 46-8-210-531 e-mail: villy.bergstrom@riksbank.se

Suzana Maria de Fatima Camacho Monteiro Banco Nacional de Angola Av 4 de Fevereiro 161 Luanda CP 1243, ANGOLA tel: 244-2-335-988 fax: 244-2-337-817 e-mail: suzycamacho@yahoo.com

Adolfo Castilla Adolfo Castilla y Asociados, S. L. Arturo Soria, 162 H, Segundo Derecha 28043 Madrid, SPAIN tel: 34-91-510-0398/34-64-986-1159 fax: 34-91-388-4824 e-mail: acastillag@telefonica.net

Ana Luiza Cortez DESA United Nations 2 UN Plaza Room 2148 New York, Ny 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4724 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: cortez@un.org

Leda Da Silva Neto Banco Nacional de Angola Av 4 de Fevereiro 151 Luanda CP 1243, ANGOLA tel: 244-2-33-5988 fax: 244-2-33-7817 e-mail: ledaneto@bna.ao

Oumar Diallo Department of Economic and Social Affairs United Nations 2 UN Plaza New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 212-963-8408 fax: e-mail: dialloo@un.org Andres Cardenas METROECONOMICA Centro Prof. Sta. Paula, Torre A, Piso 5, Of. 56, Av. Circunvalacion del Sol. Santa Paula Caracas 1061, VENEZUELA tel: 58-212-985-0454 fax: 58-212-985-5321 e-mail: metroeconomica@cantv.net

Constantin Ciupagea SERA JRC Sevilla/IPTS - European Commission Room 242, Edificio Expo, Isla de la Cartuja, Calle Inca Garcilaso s/n E-41092, Sevilla, SPAIN tel: 34-69-434-4024 fax: 34-95-448-8326 e-mail: Constantin.Ciupagea@cec.eu.int

Alfredo Coutino Center for Economic Forecasting of Mexico (CKF) P.O. Box 38521 Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA tel: 215-219-6214 fax: 302-777-3403 e-mail: acoutino@att.net

Carlo D'Adda Department of Economic Sciences Strade Maggiore 45 40126 Bologna, ITALY tel: 39-051-209-2618 fax: 39-051-209-2664 e-mail: dadda@spbo.unibo.it

Roumen Dobrinski Economic Analysis Division UN ECE Palais des Nations Office 470 Avenue de la Paix 8 - 14 1211 Geneve 10, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-22-917-2487 fax: 41-22-917-0309 e-mail: rumen.dobrinsky@unece.org

Roland Doehrn RWI Hohenzollernstr. 1-3 D-45128 Essen, GERMANY tel: 49-201-8149-262 fax: 49-201-8149-200 e-mail: doehrn@rwi-essen.de

Charlotte du Toit Department of Economics University of Pretoria Pretoria 0002, SOUTH AFRICA tel: 27-12-420-3522 fax: 27-12-362-5207 e-mail: charlotte.dutoit@up.ac.za

Simon Erlich Economic Systems Analysis & Forecasting 58, Rue Blochausen L-1243 , LUXEMBOURG tel: 352-482-252 fax: 352-470-264 e-mail: serlich@pt.lu

Kodjo Evlo Department of Economics Université de Lomé Lomé, TOGO tel: 228-226-86-14; 901-5958 (mobile) fax: 228-221-85-95 e-mail: koevlo@tg.refer.org

Michael K. Finger Economic Research and Statistics Division World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard Rue de Lausanne 154, CH - 1211 Geneva 21, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-22-739-5145 fax: 41-22-739-5762 e-mail: Michael.finger@wto.org Andre Dramais CCR-ISPRA Via Fermi, 1 I - 21020 - Ispra, ITALY tel: 39-0-332-78-6707 fax: 39-0-332-78-5733 e-mail: andre.dramais@cec.eu.int

Pami Dua Delhi School of Economics University of Delhi Delhi 110007, INDIA tel: 91-11-2766-6533, 6534, 6535 fax: 91-11-2766-7159 e-mail: dua@econdse.org;

Guillermo Jose Escude Economic Research Area Central Bank of Argentina 266 Reconquista St. COD. Area 1003 ABF Buenos Aires, ARGENTINA tel: 54-11-4348-3719/21 fax: 54-11-4000-1257 e-mail: gescude@bcra.gov.ar/efontana@bcra.gov.ar

Richard Eyiah Claydord Consult P.O. Box LG 46 Legon, Accra, GHANA tel: 233-24-310-1827/233-21-502721 fax: 233-21-502721 e-mail: reyiah@yahoo.com; claydord@yahoo.co.uk

Byron Gangnes Department of Economics University of Hawaii at Manoa 2424 Maile Way, Room 542 Honolulu, HI 96822, USA tel: 808-956-7285 fax: 808-956-4347 e-mail: gangnes@hawaii.edu

Heinz Glück Economic Studies Division Austrian National Bank P.O. Box 61, A - 1011 Vienna, AUSTRIA tel: 43-1-40420-7201 fax: 43-1-40420-7299 e-mail: heinz.glueck@oenb.co.at

Santiago Guerreiro Bremon Department of Economic and Social Affairs United Nations 2 UN Plaza Office DC2 - 2146 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 917-367-9008 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: guerreiros@un.org

Ján Haluska INFOSTAT, Institute of Informatics & Statistics Dúbravská cesta 3 845 24 Bratislava 45, SLOVAK REPUBLIC tel: 421-2-5937-9380 fax: 421-2-5479-1463 e-mail: haluska@infostat.sk

Thomas Helbling Research Department International Monetary Fund 700 19th St., NW Washington, DC 20431, USA tel: 202-623-6051 fax: 202-623-6343 e-mail: thelbling@imf.org

Dieter Hesse UN/ECE Palais des Nations Office 464 Avenue de la Paix 8 - 14 1211 Geneve 10, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-22-917-2479 fax: 41-22-917-0309 e-mail: dieter.hesse@unece.org Carl Gray DESA/EMAU United Nations Two UN Plaza DC2-2140 New York, New York 10017, USA tel: 212-963-9000 ext 34737 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: gray@un.org

Stephen Hall Department of Economics University of Leicester University Road Leicester LE1 7RH, UNITED KINGDOM tel: 44-116-252-2827 fax: 44-116-252-2908 e-mail: s.g.hall@le.ac.uk

Hsiang-Ling Han Economics Department Babson College Mustard Hall 208 Wellesley, MA 02457-0310, USA tel: 781-239-5851 fax: 781-239-5239 e-mail: han@babson.edu

Jorge Roberto Hernan Lacunza Economic Research Area Central Bank of Argentina 266 Reconquista St. COD. Area 1003 ABF Buenos Aires, ARGENTINA tel: 54-11-4348-3719/21 fax: 54-11-4000-1257 e-mail: hlacunza@bcra.gov.ar/efontana@bcra.gov.ar

Valeriy Heyets Institute of Economic Forecasting National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine 26, Panasa Myrny St. Kiev-11, 01011, UKRAINE tel: 380-44-280-1234 fax: 380-44-280-1234 e-mail: skrypnichenko@mail.ru

Bert Hickman Department of Economics Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305, USA tel: 650-857-1367 fax: 650-725-5702 e-mail: bhickman@stanford.edu

Pingfan Hong Development Policy Analysis Division United Nations DC-2-2154 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4701 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: hong@un.org

Steven James Economic Analysis and Forecasting Division Department of Finance 18th Floor, East Tower, 140 O'Connor Street Ottawa, Ontario KIA 0G5, CANADA tel: 613-992-4321 fax: 613-992-5773 e-mail: james.steven@fin.gc.ca

Cornelia Kaldewei Department of Economic and Social Affairs United Nations Office DC2-2132 2 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 917-367-3011 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: kaldewei@un.org

Grace Kasisira Research Department Bank of Uganda P.O. Box 7120 Kampala, UGANDA tel: 256-41-25-8441 fax: 256-41-25-8739 e-mail: gracekasisira@hotmail.com Andre Hofman Chief Economic Projections Centre Statistics and Economic Projections Division Economic Commissionl for Latin America and the Carribean, Casilla 179-D Santiago, CHILE tel: 56-2-210-2292 fax: 56-2-210-2472 e-mail: ahofman@eclac.cl

Keiji Inoue DESA United Nations 2 UN Plaza Office DC2-2174 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 917-367-2439 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: inouek@un.org

Osvaldo Kacef Economic Development Division ECLAC P.O. Box 179-D Santiago, CHILE tel: 56-2-210-2474 fax: 56-2-210-2359 e-mail: Osvaldo.kacef@cepal.org

Pavlos Karadeloglou European Central Bank Kaiserstrasse 29 D-60311 Frankfurt am Main, GERMANY tel: 49-69-1344-7649 fax: 49-69-1344-8550 e-mail: Pavlos.Karadeloglou@ecb.int

Robert Kaufmann Center for Energy and Environ. Studies Boston University 675 Commonwealth Ave., Suite 141 Boston, MA 02215, USA tel: 617-353-3940 fax: 617-353-5986 e-mail: kaufmann@bu.edu

Alexander Keck Economic Research and Statistics Division World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard Rue de Lausanne 154 CH - 1211 Geneva 21, SWITZERLAND tel: fax: e-mail: Alexander.Keck@wto.org

Dilli Raj Khanal Chairman Institute for Policy Research & Development P.O. Box No. GPO 8975, EPC 994 Maitigmar, Kathmandu, NEPAL tel: 977-1-427-1840 fax: 977-1-428-0845 e-mail: khanaldr@yahoo.com

Milan Klima Czech National Bank Na prikope 28 115 03 Prague 1, CZECH REPUBLIC tel: 42-02-2441-4432 fax: 42-02-2441-2329 e-mail: milan.klima@cnb.cz

Raimondas Kuodis Director of Economics Department The Bank of Lithuania Totoriu 4 LT-01121 Vilnius, LITHUANIA tel: 37-06-850-0510 fax: 37-05-212-4423 e-mail: rkuodis@lb.lt

K.C. Lai 11 Cambridge Road Twickenham TW1 2HN, UNITED KINGDOM tel: 44-20-8891-4842 fax: e-mail: KC.Lai@fao.org Matthias Kempf Development Policy and Analysis Division Department of Economic and Social Affairs United Nations 2 UN Plaza Office DC2-2136 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4787 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: kempf@un.org

Lawrence Klein Department of Economics University of Pennsylvania 3718 Locust Walk Philadelphia, PA 19104-6297, USA tel: 215-898-7713 fax: 215-898-4477 e-mail: lrk@ssc.upenn.edu

Malinka Koparanova DESA/EMAU United Nations Two UN Plaza DC2 Room 2160 New York, NY 10017, USA tel: 212-963-6808 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: kaparanova@un.org

Santiago Labiano CEPREDE / Facultad Economicas y Modulo E-XIV Universidad Autonoma Madrid 28049 Cantoblanco Madrid, SPAIN tel: 34-91-497-5079 fax: 34-91-497-8670 e-mail: santiago.labiano@ceprede.com

Ilmar Lepik Bank of Estonia Estonia Blvd. 13 Tallinn 15095, ESTONIA tel: 372-668-0756 fax: 372-668-0949 e-mail: Ilmar.Lepik@epbe.ee

Hung-Yi Li Institute for Policy Analysis University of Toronto 140 St. George St., Suite 325 Toronto, Ontario M5S 3G6, CANADA tel: 416-978-4183 fax: 416-971-2071 e-mail: link@chass.utoronto.ca

Jin-Lung Henry Lin Institute of Economics Academia Sinica 128 Sec. 2, Academia Rd. Nankang, Taipei 11529, TAIWAN, PROVINCE OF CHINA tel: 773-834-1560 fax: 773-702-0458 e-mail: jlin@sinica.edu.tw

Eduardo Loria Facultad de Economia National Autonomous University of Mexico Circuito Interior s/n Ciudad Universitaria C.P. 04510 Mexico, D.F., MEXICO tel: 52-5-5622-2142 fax: 52-5-5622-2158 e-mail: eduardol@servidor.unam.mx

Fadhil Mahdi Economic Analysis Division ESCWA P.O. Box 11-8575 Riad el-Solh Square Beirut, LEBANON tel: 961-1-978453 fax: 961-1-981-510/1 e-mail: mahdi@un.org

William Meyers Food & Agricultural Policy Research Institute University of Missouri-Columbia 101 S. Fifth St. Columbia, MO 65201, USA tel: 573-882-9717 fax: 573-884-4688 e-mail: meyersw@missouri.edu Chi-yuan Liang Institute of Economics Academia Sinica 128 Sec. 2, Academia Rd. Nankang, Taipei 11529, TAIWAN, PROVINCE OF CHINA tel: 886-2-2782-2791 ext 322 fax: 886-2-2653-9314 e-mail: cliang@econ.sinica.edu.tw

Yueh-shi Linkao 12F., No. 113, Sec. 1, Beiyi Road., Sindian City Taipei County 231, TAIWAN, PROVINCE OF CHINA tel: 886-2-23-15-5383 fax: 886-2-23-70-0411 e-mail: carolkao@cepd.gov.tw

James Machemba Macroeconomic and Financial Programme Bank of Tanzania P.O. Box 2939 Dar-es-Salaam, TANZANIA tel: 255-744 279-240 fax: 255-22-213-4693 e-mail: jdmachemba@hq.bot-tz.org

Carolina Mejia Mantilla Fedesarrollo Call 78 # 9 -91 Bogota, COLOMBIA tel: 57-1-312-5300 fax: 57-1-212-6073 e-mail: cmejia@fedesarrollo.org.co

Garabed Minassian Institute of Economics Bulgarian Academy of Sciences 3, Aksakov Str. 1040 Sofia, BULGARIA tel: 359-2-957-2419 fax: 359-2-988-2108 e-mail: minasian@mail.techno-link.com

Joseph Mverecha Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe P.O. Box 1283 Harare, ZIMBABWE tel: 263-4-70-3000 fax: 263-4-70-5979 e-mail: jmverecha@rbz.co.zw

Délia Nilles Institute 'Créa' Université de Lausanne BFSH1 CH-1015 Lausanne-Dorigny, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-21-692-3353 fax: 41-21-692-3355 e-mail: delia.nilles@unil.ch

Hilary Nwokeabia Division on Investment, Technology and Enterprise Development UNCTAD Geneva, Switzerland tel: 22-917-5608 fax: 22-917-0194 e-mail: hiilary.nwokeabia@unctad.org

Michal Olexa INFOSTAT, Institute of Informatics & Statistics Dúbravská cesta 3 845 24 Bratislava 45, SLOVAK REPUBLIC tel: 421-2-5937-9277 fax: 421-2-5479-1463 e-mail: olexa@infostat.sk

Sheila Page Overseas Development Inst. 1 Durler Gardens Luton, LU1 3TA, UNITED KINGDOM tel: 44-158-273-1453 fax: 44-870-052-5388 e-mail: s.page@odi.org.uk Anirudh Nagar National Institute of Public Finance and Policy 18/2, Satsang Vihar Marg, Spl Institutional Area, Near JNU New Delhi 110 067, INDIA tel: 91-11-2656-9303 fax: 91-11-2685-2548 e-mail: nagar@nipfp.org.in

Janvier Nkurunziza Economic and Social Policy Division United Nations Economic Commission for Africa P.O. Box 3005 Addis Ababa, ETHIOPIA tel: 251-011-544-3614 fax: e-mail: JNkurunziza@uneca.org

Arturo O'Connell Banco Central de la Republica Argentina Reconquista 266 C1003 ABF Buenos Aires, ARGENTINA tel: 54-11-4348-3596 fax: 54-11-4348-3592 e-mail: aoconnell@bcra.gov.ar

Suleyman Ozmucur Department of Economics University of Pennsylvania 3718 Locust Walk Philadelphia, PA 19104-6297, USA tel: 215-898-6765 fax: 215-898-4477 e-mail: ozmucur@ssc.upenn.edu

Peter Pauly Institute for Policy Analysis University of Toronto 140 St. George St., Suite 325 Toronto, Ontario M5S 3G6, CANADA tel: 416-978-4331 fax: 416-971-2071 e-mail: pauly@chass.utoronto.ca

John Perkins National Insitute of Economic and Industry Research 416 Queens Parade Clifton Hill, Victoria 3068, AUSTRALIA tel: 613-9488-8444 fax: 613-9482-3262 e-mail: jperkins@nieir.com.au

Roberta Piermartini Economic Research and Statistics Division World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard CH - 1211 Geneva 21, SWITZERLAND tel: fax: e-mail: Roberta.Piermartini@wto.org

Pete Richardson Economics Department OECD 2 rue Andre Pascal 75775 Paris, FRANCE tel: 33-1-4524-8830 fax: 33-1-4524-9050 e-mail: pete.richardson@oecd.org

Mette Rolland The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway P. O. Box 100 Bryn N-0611 Oslo, NORWAY tel: 47-22-93-9833 fax: 47-22-65-6022 e-mail: mette.rolland@kredittilsynet.no

Kenneth G Ruffing OECD Development Centre 2 bis rue Jouy Boudonville 78100 St. Germain-en-Laye, FRANCE tel: 33-1-4524-9584 fax: 33-1-4430-6150 e-mail: kenneth.ruffing@oecd.org; kenneth.ruffing@aol.com Avinash Persaud Intelligence Capital Ltd 30B Bellevue Road London, UNITED KINGDOM tel: 44-1-208-682-2279 fax: e-mail: avinash@intelligence-capital.com

Alexander Raubold Economic Research and Statistics Division World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard Rue de Lausanne 154 CH - 1211 Geneva 21, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-22-739-6342 fax: e-mail: alexander.raubold@wto.org

Cristina Rodriguez METROECONOMICA Centro Prof. Sta. Paula, Torre A, Piso 5, Of. 56, Ave. Circunvalacion del Sol, Santa Paula Caracas, 1061, VENEZUELA tel: 58-21-985-0454 fax: 58-212-985-5321 e-mail: lcrodriguezb@yahoo.com

Andrei Roudoi Global Insight 1850 M Street, NW Suite 1100 Washington, DC 20036, USA tel: 202-481-9214 fax: 202-481-9301 e-mail: andrei.roudoi@globalinsight.com

Hiren Sarkar Poverty and Development Division UNESCAP United Nations Bldg., Rajadamnern Nok Ave., Bangkok 10200, THAILAND tel: 66-2-288-1642 fax: 66-2-288-3007 e-mail: sarkar.unescap@un.org

John Scally Economic Department Central Bank of Ireland (CBFSRI) Dame Street Dublin 2, IRELAND tel: 3531-434-4367 fax: 3531-434-4367 e-mail: john.scally@centralbank.ie

Allen Shaw Global Economic Consulting Associates, Inc. 1437 Country Club Drive Springfield, PA 19064, USA tel: 610-490-2548 fax: 610-490-2557 e-mail: allens@gecainc.com

Seung-Kwan Shin Korea International Trade Association Trade Tower Room 4701, World Trade Center Samsung-Dong, Gangnam-Gu Seoul 135-729, KOREA tel: 82-2-6000-5174 fax: 82-2-6000-6198 e-mail: skshin15@kita.net

Andras Simon 1125 Trencsenyi u 12 Budapest, HUNGARY tel: 36-1-202-3210 fax: e-mail: andrassimon@axelero.hu

Robert Teh Economic Research and Statistics Division World Trade Organization Centre William Rappard Rue de Lausanne 154 CH - 1211 Geneva 21, SWITZERLAND tel: fax: e-mail: Robert.Teh@wto.org Claudio Sfreddo Institute 'Créa' Université de Lausanne BFSH1 CH-1015 Lausanne-Dorigny, SWITZERLAND tel: 41-21-692-3354 fax: 41-21-692-3355 e-mail: claudio.sfreddo@hec.unil.ch

Yacov Sheinin Economic Models Ltd. Gibor Sport Bldg 7 Menahem Begin St. Ramat-Gan 52681, ISRAEL tel: 972-3-611-4242 fax: 972-3-611-4243 e-mail: sheinin@modelim.co.il

Sukha Shin Korea Development Institute 207-41 Choengnyang Dongdaemoon Seoul, 130-012, KOREA tel: 82-2-958-4095 fax: 82-2-958-4088 e-mail: sshin@kdi.re.kr

Franjo Stiblar Ekonomski Institute Pravne Fakultete University of Ljubljana Presernova 21 1000 Ljubljana, SLOVENIA tel: 386-1-252-1688 fax: 386-1-425-6870 e-mail: franjo.stiblar@eipf.si

Hans Timmer Leader Global Trends Team, DECPG The World Bank 1818 H Street NW Washington, DC 20433, USA tel: 202-458-8983 fax: 202-522-2578 e-mail: htimmer@worldbank.org/htimmer@aol.com

Massimo Tivegna Faculty of Political Sciences University of Teramo 64100 Teramo, ITALY Via Caroncini 43 00197 Roma, ITALY tel: 39-06-808-5393 fax: 39-0861-240-243 e-mail: mc1223@mclink.it

Juan-Rafael Vargas Escuela de Economia Universidad de Costa Rica San Pedro, CP 2060, COSTA RICA tel: 506-207-5241 fax: 506-224-3682 e-mail: jrvargas@cariari.ucr.ac.cr

Hannu Viertola Economics Departmant Bank of Finland P.O. Box 10100 FIN - 00 101 Helsinki, FINLAND tel: 358-10-183-2425 fax: 358-9-622-1882 e-mail: hannu.viertola@bof.fi

Norbert Walter Deutsche Bank Research/Economics Deutsche Bank Group Taunusanlage 12 D-60272 Frankfurt am Main, GERMANY tel: 49-69-910-31810 fax: 49-69-910-31826 e-mail: norbert.walter@db.com

Aleksander Welfe Institute of Econometrics and Statistics University of Lodz 41, Rewolucji 1905 90214 Lodz, POLAND tel: 48-42-6355-172, 175 fax: (48-42) 636 9432 e-mail: emfalw@krysia.uni.lodz.pl Jane Tvedt Norges Bank P.O. Box 1179, Sentrum NO-0107 Oslo, NORWAY tel: 47-22-32-6426 fax: 47-22-442-4062 e-mail: jane.tvedt@norges-bank.no

Désiré Vencatachellum African Development Bank BP 323 1002 Tunis, TUNISIA tel: 216-71-102-205 fax: 216-71-103-779 e-mail: D.Vencatachellum@afdb.org

Robert Vos Director of Development Policy and Analysis United Nations - DESA 2 United Nations Plaza Room DC2-2170 New York 10017, USA tel: 212-963-4838 fax: 212-963-1061 e-mail: vos@un.org

Tongsan Wang Institute of Quantitative and Technical Economics Chinese Academy of Social Sciences No. 5 Jianguomennei Street Beijing 100732, CHINA tel: 86-10-6513-7561 fax: 86-10-6512-6118 e-mail: tswang@mx.cei.gov.cn

Wladyslaw Welfe Institute of Econometrics and Statistics University of Lodz 41, Rewolucji 1905r 90-214 Lodz, POLAND tel: 48-42-6355-172/522 fax: 48-42-6355-025 e-mail: emfiws@uni.lodz.pl

Thomas Wilson Institute for Policy Analysis University of Toronto 140 St. George St., Suite 325 Toronto, Ontario M5S 3G6, CANADA tel: 416-978-4458 fax: 416-971-2071 e-mail: twilson@chass.utoronto.ca

Yaxiong Zhang Economic Forecasting Department State Information Centre No. 58 Sanlihe Road Beijing 100045, CHINA tel: 86-10-6855-7129 fax: 86-10-6855-8210 e-mail: zhangyx@mx.cei.gov.cn Peng Zhang Economic Forecasting Department State Information Centre No. 58 Sanlihe Road Beijing 100045, CHINA tel: 86-10-6855-8128 fax: 86-10-6855-8210 e-mail: siczp@mx.cei.gov.cn

Nicholas Zonzilos Bank of Greece 21, El. Venizelos Ave. GR - 102 50 Athens, GREECE tel: 30210-320-2374 fax: 30210-323-3025 e-mail: nzonzhlos@bankofgreece.gr